


















 Law, shall apply 20.00% rate of withholding tax if the shareholder’s name, with relevant details, 
does not appear on the ATL, available on the FBR website on the first day of book closure and 
deposit the same in the Government Treasury as this has to be done within the prescribed time.

(7) Withholding tax exemption from the dividend income, shall only be allowed if copy of valid tax 
exemption certificate is made available to M/s. FAMCO Associates (Pvt.) Ltd., by the first day of 
book closure.

(8) In accordance with the provisions of Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017 and Circular No. 
18/2017, a listed company, is required to pay cash dividend to the shareholders ONLY through 
electronic mode directly into the bank account designated by the entitled shareholders. In 
compliance with the said law, in order to receive your future dividends directly in your Bank account, 
you are required to provide the information mentioned on the Form placed on the Company’s 
website https://frieslandcampina.com.pk and send the same to your brokers/the Central Depository 
Company Ltd. if the shares are held in the electronic form or to the Company’s Shares Registrar if 
the shares are held in paper certificate form.

(9) Pursuant to SECP Circular No. 10 of 2014 dated 21st May, 2014, if the Company receives consent 
from members holding in aggregate 10% or more shareholding residing in a geographical location to 
participate in the meeting through video conference at least 7 days prior to the date of Annual 
General Meeting, the Company will arrange video conference facility in that city subject to 
availability of such facility in that city. To avail this facility please provide the following information to 
the Share Registrar Office of the Company i.e. Messrs. FAMCO ASSOCIATES (PRIVATE) LIMITED, 
8-F, Near Hotel Faran, Nursery, Block 6, PECHS, Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi PABX Nos. (+9221) 
34380101-5 and email info.shares@famco.com.pk

 I/We, of being a member of FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited holder of Ordinary Share(s) as per 
Register Folio No. _____________ hereby opt for video conference facility at (Please insert name of the City) 
_________________

  
 
 Signature of Member

(10)   E-Voting
 Members can exercise their right to demand a poll subject to meeting requirements of Sections 143-145 of 

Companies Act, 2017 and applicable clauses of Companies (Postal Ballot) Regulations 2018.

Notes
Video Link Facility for Attending the Meeting due to the prevailing COVID-19 pandemic, the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Pakistan has allowed companies to hold general meetings virtually via video link. 
Members are advised to register for attending, participating in, and voting at the Extraordinary General 
Meeting via video link, not later than 48 hours before the Meeting, by providing the following information 
at Shareholders.pk@frieslandcampina.com. If the information is couriered, it should reach the Company's 
registered office no later than Friday, 16th April, 2021.

Full Name CNIC Number Folio / CDC Account Number Email Address  Cell Number      

By order of the Board

Muneeza Iftikar

Company Secretary

Karachi,
February 08, 2021.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Business Revenue (Rs. in billions)	
% Segment Share	

Dairy, Beverages & Others

Ice cream
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2020 2019

WEALTH GENERATED Rs. in millions % Rs. in millions %

Total Revenue inclusive of sales tax and other income  46,514  40,528 
bought-in material and services  (36,400)  (31,438)

 10,114  9,090 
WEALTH DISTRIBUTED
To employees
Salaries, benefits and other costs  3,007 29.73%  2,998 32.98%
To Government
Taxes, duties and development surcharge  3,389 33.51%  3,511 38.63%
To Society
Donations towards education, health, environment

and natural disaster  20 0.20%  20 0.22%
To Providers of Capital
Mark up/interest expense on borrowed money  1,239 12.25%  1,222 13.44%
Retained for reinvestment and future growth,

depreciation, amortization, retained profit 2459 24.31% 1339 14.73%
 10,114  9,090 

STATEMENT OF VALUE ADDITION & DISTRIBUTION

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Description 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

--------------------------Rupees in million --------------------------

Statement of Financial Position
Share capital  7,666  7,666  7,666  7,666  7,666  7,666 
Share premium  865  865  865  865  865  865 
Employee compensation reserve 100 116 218 298  434  595 
Remeasurement of post employment

benefits - Remeasurement loss  (146)  (132)  (138)  (81)  (74)  (84)
Unappropriate profit / (loss)  62  (130)  730  973  8,259  5,872 
Shareholders’ funds / Equity  8,548  8,385  9,341  9,721  17,151  14,913 
Long term borrowings  4,663  3,200  4,000  4,121  500  2,196 
Capital employed  13,211  11,585  13,341  13,842  17,651  17,109 
Property, plant & equipment  10,448  10,913  11,819  12,559  13,121  13,860 
Long term advances & deposits  44  59  71  84  94  134 

Statement of Profit or Loss
Revenue from contracts with customer - net  44,155  38,567  32,439  34,653  43,878  49,442 
Gross profit  5,953  4,880  5,154  5,636  10,015  11,538 
Operating profit  1,507  121  505  1,087  3,866  5,150 
Profit / (loss) before tax  268  (1,100)  (170)  563  3,518  4,294 
Profit / (loss) after tax  177  (955)  64  379  2,387  3,162 

Statement of Cash Flows
Net cash flow from operating activities  1,934  1,522  1,231  4,516  5,122  4,517 
Net cash flow from investing activities  (1,316)  (838)  (1,113)  (900)  (1,188)  (790)
Net cash flow from financing activities  1,703  (458)  (958)  (5,393)  (3,176)  (1,722)
Changes in cash & cash equivalents  2,321  226  (840)  (1,778)  758  2,005 
Cash & cash equivalents – Year end  570  (1,750)  (1,976)  (1,136)  638  (121)

Others (Million)
Market capitalisation  63,101  60,823  61,145  61,598  147,218  112,366 
Numbers of shares issued  767  767  767  767  767  767 

Quantitative Data (‘000 Litres)
Production capacity
Dairy & beverages   617,888  610,004  642,540  662,516  748,000  748,000 
Ice cream  44,064  44,064  43,623  40,800  39,000  39,000 

Actual Production
Dairy & beverages   314,979  328,627  281,903  320,344  482,958  552,532 
Ice cream  18,157  21,392  18,254  17,467  19,518  19,364 

Profitability Ratios:

 Gross Profit Ratio 
 Net Profit to Sales

202020192018201720162015

6.4%

23.3% 22.8%

16.3%

15.9%

12.7% 13.5%

5.4%

1.1%
0.2%%

-2.5%

0.4%
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 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - 2015 TO 2020
 RATIOS 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

-------------------------Rupees in million -------------------------

 Profitability Ratios: 
 Gross Profit ratio 13.5% 12.7% 15.9% 16.3% 22.8% 23.3%
 Net Profit to Sales 0.4% (2.5%) 0.2% 1.1% 5.4% 6.4%
 EBITDA Margin to Sales 8.6% 6.3% 7.7% 8.7% 13.5% 14.6%
 Operating leverage ratio 78.87 (4.02) 8.38 3.42 2.22 11.69 
 Return on Equity 2.1% (11.4%) 0.7% 3.9% 13.9% 21.2%
 Return on Capital employed 1.4% (7.5%) 0.5% 2.4% 13.7% 18.5%

 Liquidity Ratios: 
 Current ratio  1.1  0.9  1.1  1.2 1.9 1.5 
 Quick / Acid test ratio  0.6  0.5  0.7  0.7 1.1 1.0 
 Cash to Current Liabilities  0.1  0.0  0.0  0.0 0.1 0.0 
 Cash flow from Operations to Sales  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.1 0.1 0.1 

 Activity / Turnover Ratios: 
 No. of Days Inventory  34.7  36.5  37.9  40.3 36.8 32.6 
 No. of Days Receivables  7.1  6.2  3.2  1.3 0.8 0.8 
 No. of Days Payables  98.6  100.8  98.8  73.8 46.5 40.3 
 Operating cycle  (56.8)  (58.0)  (57.7)  (32.2) (8.8) (6.9)
 Inventory turnover  10.5  10.0  9.6  9.1 9.9 11.2 
 Debtors turnover  51.4  58.6  113.6  288.4 468.7 463.1 
 Creditors turnover  3.7  3.6  3.7  4.9 7.9 9.1 
 Total Assets turnover ratio /
  Fixed Assets turnover ratio  1.9  1.6  1.4  1.6 1.8 1.9 

 Investment / Market Ratios: 
 Earnings Per Share (EPS) - basic & diluted  0.23  (1.25)  0.08  0.49  3.11  4.13 
 Price Earnings ratio  357.70  (63.44)  996.50  165.71  61.72  35.49 
Cash Dividend per share (Rs.) - - - 0.40 10.00 -
 Market value per share at the end of the year  82.27  79.30  79.72  81.20  191.94  146.50 
 Highest market value during the year  95.32  91.49  107.34  211.00  192.19  179.46 
 Lowest market value during the year  43.20  42.10  69.00  69.00  115.35  105.31 
 Breakup value per share   11.15  10.94  12.19  12.68  22.37  19.45 

 Capital Structure Ratios: 
 Long-term Debt to Equity 37.1% 30.1% 30.0% 29.8% 2.8% 12.8%

Information of shareholding required under the reporting framework is as follows:

1. Associated Companies, Undertakings and Related Parties

Shareholder’s category No. of Shares Held
FrieslandCampina Pakistan Holding B.V. 390,963,999
Engro Corporation Limited 306,075,947

2. Directors, Chief Executive Officer and their spouse(s) and minor children

Shareholder’s category No. of shares Held
Mr. Abdul Samad Dawood 501
Mr. Abrar Hasan 500
Zouhair Abdul Khaliq 1

3. Executives	 23,899

4. Public sector companies and corporations	 -

5. Banks, Development Financial Institutions, Non Banking Financial Institutions	 13,786,500

6. Insurance Companies	 3,000

6. Modarabas and Mutual Funds

Shareholder’s category No. of Shares Held
NAME  HOLDING 
B.F.MODARABA 10,000 
CDC - TRUSTEE AKD INDEX TRACKER FUND 18,824 
TRUST MODARABA 45,000 
CDC - TRUSTEE NIT-EQUITY MARKET OPPORTUNITY FUND 54,900 
CDC - TRUSTEE AWT ISLAMIC STOCK FUND 36,000 
CDC - TRUSTEE NATIONAL INVESTMENT (UNIT) TRUST 34,400 
CDC - TRUSTEE AWT STOCK FUND 87,500 
CDC - TRUSTEE FAYSAL ISLAMIC DEDICATED EQUITY FUND 70,000 
CDC - TRUSTEE FAYSAL ISLAMIC STOCK FUND 72,500 
Total 429,124

7. Shareholders holding five percent or more voting rights in the Company:

Shareholder’s category No. of shares Held

ENGRO CORPORATION LIMITED 306,075,947

FRIESLANDCAMPINA PAKISTAN HOLDING B.V. 390,963,999

8. Details of purchase/sale of shares by Directors, Executives* and their spouse(s) / minor children during 2020.

Name Date of Purchase / Sale Shares Purchased Shares Sold Rate

* For the purpose of declaration of share trades all employee of the company are considered as “Executives”

KEY SHAREHOLDING & SHARES TRADED
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PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

NO OF SHARE  NO. OF SHARESHOLDINGS Total

 HOLDERS  FROM  TO  Shares 

 765  1  100  41,343 

 3,390  101  500  1,545,467 

 1,409  501  1,000  1,338,025 

 1,687  1,001  5,000  4,506,917 

 390  5,001  10,000  3,125,987 

 112  10,001  15,000  1,421,040 

 88  15,001  20,000  1,621,469 

 62  20,001  25,000  1,474,526 

 46  25,001  30,000  1,289,652 

 26  30,001  35,000  866,325 

 19  35,001  40,000  719,160 

 17  40,001  45,000  742,200 

 29  45,001  50,000  1,418,008 

 12  50,001  55,000  644,246 

 5  55,001  60,000  289,000 

 6  60,001  65,000  377,800 

 15  65,001  70,000  1,022,700 

 8  70,001  75,000  580,100 

 5  75,001  80,000  395,900 

 7  80,001  85,000  582,600 

 3  85,001  90,000  263,500 

 5  90,001  95,000  467,500 

 10  95,001  100,000  994,000 

 2  100,001  105,000  209,500 

 2  105,001  110,000  218,000 

 1  110,001  115,000  112,415 

 2  115,001  120,000  237,640 

 7  120,001  125,000  869,000 

 2  130,001  135,000  266,187 

 2  140,001  145,000  287,000 

 4  145,001  150,000  595,500 

 4  150,001  155,000  612,000 

 2  155,001  160,000  320,000 

 1  160,001  165,000  163,000 

NO OF SHARE  NO. OF SHARESHOLDINGS Total

 HOLDERS  FROM  TO  Shares 

 2  165,001  170,000  337,400 

 1  170,001  175,000  171,500 

 1  185,001  190,000  186,100 

 4  195,001  200,000  800,000 

 1  210,001  215,000  211,000 

 3  240,001  245,000  729,000 

 1  245,001  250,000  250,000 

 1  250,001  255,000  252,000 

 1  255,001  260,000  255,500 

 1  270,001  275,000  274,000 

 2  320,001  325,000  647,000 

 1  355,001  360,000  357,474 

 1  365,001  370,000  370,000 

 1  410,001  415,000  415,000 

 1  420,001  425,000  424,000 

 2  475,001  480,000  957,000 

 1  550,001  555,000  554,148 

 1  630,001  635,000  634,000 

 1  660,001  665,000  663,000 

 1  670,001  675,000  675,000 

 1  1,030,001  1,035,000  1,030,500 

 1  1,330,001  1,335,000  1,330,700 

 1  1,850,001  1,855,000  1,855,000 

 1  1,985,001  1,990,000  1,986,000 

 1  2,130,001  2,135,000  2,130,500 

 1  2,215,001  2,220,000  2,216,000 

 1  2,240,001  2,245,000  2,244,500 

 1  2,255,001  2,260,000  2,256,000 

 1  2,580,001  2,585,000  2,581,600 

 1  13,140,001  13,145,000  13,145,000 

 1  135,775,001  135,780,000 135,775,939 

 1  170,300,001  170,305,000 170,300,008 

 1  390,960,001  390,965,000 390,963,499 

 8,186 766,596,075 

CATEGORIES OF SHAREHOLDING
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Shareholders’ Category No. of
Shareholders

No. of
Shares

Percentage
of Holding

Directors, Chief Executive Officer, and their
spouse(s) and minor children. 3 1,002 0

Associated companies, undertakings and related parties. 4 697,039,946 90.93

Banks, Development Financial Institutions, Non-Banking
Financial Institutions. 4 13,786,500 1.80

Insurance Companies 1 3,000 0

Modarabas and Mutual Funds 9 429,124 0.06

Shareholders holding 10% or more shares 3 697,039,446 90.93

General Public (individuals)

a. Local
b. Foreign 8,067 43,320,994 5.65

Others 98 12,015,509 1.57
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
Annual General Meeting

The annual shareholders meeting will be held at 03:00 p.m. on April 20, 2021 VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE Karachi.

Shareholders as of April 20, 2021 are encouraged to participate and vote.

Any shareholder may appoint a proxy to vote on his or her behalf. Proxies should be filed with the company at least 48 
hours before the meeting time.

CDC Shareholders or their Proxies are requested to bring with them copies of their Computerized National Identity Card 
or passport alongwith the Participant’s ID number and their account number at the time of attending the Annual General 
Meeting in order to facilitate their identification.

Ownership

On December 31, 2020 there were 8,186, shareholders on record of the Company’s ordinary shares.

Circulation  of Annual Reports through CD/DVD/USB 

As notified by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) vide S.R.O. 470(I)/2016 dated May 21, 2016 
and in continuation with the SRO.787(1)/2014 dated September 8, 2014, and approved by the Shareholders in the 
Annual General Meeting of the Company held on  March 24, 2017, the Company shall circulate its annual balance sheet, 
and profit and loss account, auditor’s report and directors report etc. (“Annual Audited Accounts”) to its members through 
CD/DVD/USB at their registered addresses, save for those who opt for a hardcopy of the Annual Audited Accounts. The 
standard request form for electronic transmission is available at the Company’s website https://frieslandcampina.com.pk.

Alternatively members can fill up the Standard Request Forms respectively in the Annexures section at the end of 
the report.

E-DIVIDEND MANDATE (MANDATORY) 

In accordance with the provisions of  Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017, and Section 4 of the Companies (Distribution 
of Dividends) Regulations, 2017 it is mandatory for a listed company, to pay cash dividend to the shareholders ONLY 
through electronic mode directly into the bank account designated by the entitled shareholders.

In order to receive your future dividends directly in your Bank account, then please provide the information mentioned on 
the Form placed on the Company’s website https://frieslandcampina.com.pk and  the same to your brokers or the Central 
Depository Company Ltd. (in case the shares are held in the electronic form) and to our Share Registrars  (in case the shares 
are held in paper certificate form).
	

Quarterly Results							     
The Company issues quarterly financial statements. The planned dates for release of the quarterly results in 2021 are:

1st quarter:   April 20, 2021   
2nd quarter:   August 18, 2021  
3rd quarter:    October 26, 2021  
                                              
The Company reserves the right to change any of the above dates.

Change of Address

All registered shareholders should send information on changes of address to:

M/s. FAMCO Associates (Private) Limited
8-F, Near Hotel Faran Nursery, Block-6 P.E.C.H.S. Shahra-e-Faisal Karachi-74000



I joined FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited’s Project 
EWID (Enhancing Women’s Income through Dairy 
Interventions) to be trained as a Female Village Milk 
Collection Agent (FVMC). My aim was to provide for my 
family and when I joined the program in April 2020, I was 
apprehensive. However, FCEPL supported me 
continuously and trained me as a Milk Collection Agent 
which gave me the confidence to step out and earn a 
respectable living. Now I am the sole bread winner of the 
family without any worry of the future.

Aqsa Bibi 
Milk Collection Agent



Financial 
Statements
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Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited for the 
year ended December 31, 2020 in accordance with the requirements of regulation 36 of the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company. Our responsibility 
is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s compliance with the provisions of 
the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations. 
A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company’s personnel and review of various documents prepared by the 
Company to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting and internal 
control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not required to consider 
whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the 
effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of the Audit 
Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party transactions. We are only 
required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the related party transactions 
by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of Compliance 
does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with the requirements contained in the 
Regulations as applicable to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020.

	

A. F. Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Karachi  
Date: March 4, 2021

Independent Auditor’s Review Report 
to the members of FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan
Limited

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:

1.	 The total number of directors are seven (7) as per the following:

	 Male: Six (6)
	 Female: One (1)

2.	 The composition of Board is as follows:

Category Name

Independent Directors Abrar Hasan
Zouhair Abdul Khaliq

Non-executive Directors Abdul Samad Dawood (Chairman)
Roeland Francois Van Neerbos 
Eduardus Lambertus Holtzer
Petra Attje Zinkweg (Female Director)

Executive Director Ali Ahmed Khan (Chief Executive Officer – CEO)

3.	 The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed companies, 
including this company;

4.	 The Company has prepared a code of conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken to 
disseminate it throughout the company along with its supporting policies and procedures;

5.	 The Board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies of 
the company. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of the significant policies along 
with their date of approval or updating is maintained by the Company;

6.	 All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken 
by the Board/ shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these Regulations;

7.	 The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected 
by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of Act and the Regulations 
with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board;

8.	 The Board have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in accordance 
with the Act and these Regulations;

9.	 No director attended the Directors’ Training program during the year. However, three directors have already 
completed the Directors’ Training program in previous years;

10.	There was no fresh appointment of Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audit 
during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Board has approved the remuneration of Chief Financial 
Officer, Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audit and complied with relevant requirements of the 
Regulations;

11.	Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer duly endorsed the financial statements before approval 
of the Board;

12.	The Board has formed Committees comprising of members given below:

Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019
For the year ended December 31, 2020

A. F. FERGUSON & CO., Chartered Accountants, a member firm of the PwC network
State Life Building No. 1-C, I.I. Chundrigar Road, P.O. Box 4716, Karachi-74000, Pakistan
Tel: +92 (21) 32426682-6/32426711-5; Fax: +92 (21) 32415007/32427938/32424740; <www.pwc.com/pk>

   KARACHI     LAHORE     ISLAMABAD
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Audit Committee Human Resource and Remuneration Committee

Abrar Hasan (Chairman) Zouhair Abdul Khaliq (Chairman)

Zouhair Abdul Khaliq Petra Attje Zinkweg

Eduardus Lambertus Holtzer Ali Ahmed Khan

13.	The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to the 
committees for compliance;

14.	The frequency of meetings of the Committees was as follows:

a.	 Audit Committee: Four quarterly meetings during the financial year ended December 31, 2020;
b.	 Human Resource and Remuneration Committee: one meeting during the financial year ended December 

31, 2020;

15.	The Board has set up an effective internal audit function comprising of suitably qualified and experienced 
staff who are conversant with the policies and procedures of the Company;

16.	The statutory auditors of the Company have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating 
under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and 
registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance with 
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the partners of the firm involved in the audit are not 
a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit, Company Secretary or Director of the Company;

17.	The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other 
services except in accordance with the Act, these Regulations or any other regulatory requirement and the 
auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard; and

18.	We confirm that all requirements of regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27, 32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations have 
been complied with.

Abdul Samad Dawood
Chairman

Karachi
Date: February 8, 2021

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the members of FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited (the Company), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the statement of profit or loss, the statement 
of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 
and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, 
were necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the statement of financial 
position, statement of profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the 
statement of cash flows together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting standards 
as applicable in Pakistan and give the information required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so 
required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at December 31, 2020 and of 
the profit and other comprehensive loss, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Following are the Key audit matters:

S. No. Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit
(i) Deferred tax asset relating to minimum turnover tax

[Refer notes 2.20, 3(a) and 8 to the financial 
statements]

As at December 31, 2020, included in the 
balance of deferred tax asset (net) is an amount 
of Rs. 1,056,795 thousand representing deferred 
tax asset recognized on account of minimum 
turnover tax.

Recognition of deferred tax asset on account 
of minimum turnover tax requires management 
to estimate the Company’s tax liability in future 
tax years. This process relies on the assessment 
of the Company’s profitability forecast, which in 
turn is based on assumptions concerning future 
economic conditions and business performance.

As preparing of profitability forecast and 
assessment of realizability of recognized deferred 
tax asset requires significant management 
judgement, we considered this a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures amongst others included the following:

•	 obtained understanding of the management’s process 
of preparation of profitability forecast, tax liability and 
deferred tax calculation;

•	 discussed with the management, significant underlying 
assumptions used in preparing the profitability forecast 
and assessed the same for reasonableness;

•	 checked appropriateness of tax rates applied in view 
of the local tax legislation; 

•	 checked mathematical accuracy of calculations; and 

•	 assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures 
made in the financial statements with respect to the 
applicable accounting and reporting standards.
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S. No. Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit
(ii) Valuation of dairy livestock

[Refer notes 2.3, 3(c) and 5 to the financial 
statements]

As at December 31, 2020, the fair value of 
the Company’s biological assets amounts to Rs. 
1,197,685 thousand. This includes Rs. 1,197,617 
thousand in respect of dairy livestock.

Dairy livestock is measured at fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs. Fair value of dairy 
livestock is determined by an external expert 
appointed by the Company on the basis of market 
and replacement values of similar livestock from 
active markets in other countries and physical 
attributes of livestock.

Due to the level of judgment involved in 
determining fair values of dairy livestock, we 
considered this a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures amongst others, included the 
following:

•	 obtained understanding of the internal control over 
valuation of dairy livestock, assessed the design and 
tested operating effectiveness of controls on a test 
basis;

•	 assessed management expert’s report including 
process of valuation in the light of our knowledge of 
the business;

•	 checked source data provided to the management’s 
expert on a sample basis; 

•	 engaged our expert to evaluate significant assumptions 
used and values determined by management’s expert; and

•	 assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures 
made in the financial statements with respect to the 
applicable accounting and reporting standards.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the 
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of directors are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

(a)	 proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017);

(b)	 the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive income, the 
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes thereon have been drawn 
up in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and 
returns;

(c)	 investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the purpose of the 
Company’s business; and

(d)	 no Zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980).

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Osama Kapadia.

A. F. Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Karachi 

Date: March 4, 2021
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 2020 2019
-----------Rupees----------- 

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4  10,448,454  10,913,215 
Biological assets 5  1,197,685  1,086,734 
Intangibles 6  67,084  95,135 
Right-of-use assets 7  451,138  647,187 
Deferred tax asset - net 8  806,244  174,338 
Long term advances and deposits 9  43,781  58,934 

 13,014,386  12,975,543 
Current Assets

Stores, spares and loose tools 10  444,237  515,048 
Stock-in-trade 11  3,538,892  3,717,730 
Trade debts 12  801,387  915,728 
Advances, deposits and prepayments 13  265,601  270,866 
Other receivables 14  158,247  313,481 
Sales tax recoverable 15  1,928,294  2,004,857 
Taxes recoverable  2,576,420  2,786,929 
Cash and bank balances 16  570,462  65,915 

 10,283,540  10,590,554 
TOTAL ASSETS  23,297,926  23,566,097 

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

Note 2020 2019
-----------Rupees----------- 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 17  7,665,961  7,665,961 
Share premium 18  865,354  865,354 
Employee share option compensation reserve 19  100,446  115,517 
Remeasurement of post employment benefits - Remeasurement loss  (146,432)  (132,485)
Unappropriated profit / (loss)  62,315  (129,682)

 8,547,644  8,384,665 
Non-Current Liabilities

Long term:
- finances 20  4,663,004  3,200,000 
- lease liability against right-of-use assets 21  258,219  413,752 
- other payables 22  118,452  - 

 5,039,675  3,613,752 
Current Liabilities

Current portion of long term:
- finances 20  1,239,502  800,000 
- lease liability against right-of-use assets 21  240,097  235,692 
- other payables 22  39,069  - 

Trade and other payables 23  7,814,922  8,226,126 
Contract liabilities 24  215,144  140,926 
Unclaimed dividend  8,507  8,731 
Accrued interest / mark-up on:

- long term finances  87,570  131,474 
- short term finances  65,796  208,581 

Short term finances 25  -  1,816,150 
 9,710,607  11,567,680 

 14,750,282  15,181,432 
Contingencies and Commitments 26

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  23,297,926  23,566,097 

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Abdul Samad Dawood Ali Ahmed Khan Imran Husain
Chairman     Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
[Amounts in thousand except for earnings / (loss) per share]

Note 2020 2019
----------Rupees---------- 

Revenue from contracts with customers - net 27  44,155,023  38,567,019 

Cost of sales 28 (38,202,175) (33,687,049)

Gross profit  5,952,848  4,879,970 

Distribution and marketing expenses 29  (3,661,213)  (3,678,992)

Administrative expenses 30  (1,154,310)  (1,245,853)

Other operating expenses 31  (177,243)  (246,874)

Other income 32  546,438  412,968 

Operating profit  1,506,520  121,219 

Finance cost 33  (1,238,840)  (1,221,574)

Profit / (loss) before taxation  267,680  (1,100,355)

Taxation 34  (90,754)  145,490 

Profit / (loss) for the year  176,926  (954,865)

Earnings / (loss) per share - basic and diluted 35  0.23  (1.25)

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(Amounts in thousand)

Note 2020 2019
----------Rupees---------- 

Profit / (loss) for the year  176,926  (954,865)

Other comprehensive (loss) / income:

Items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss

Remeasurement (loss) / gain of post employment benefits
obligation - remeasurement (loss) / gain 38.6  (19,643)  7,522 

Less: Income tax relating to remeasurement loss / (gain)  5,696  (2,181)

Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year, net of tax  (13,947)  5,341 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year  162,979  (949,524)

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Abdul Samad Dawood Ali Ahmed Khan Imran Husain
Chairman     Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Abdul Samad Dawood Ali Ahmed Khan Imran Husain
Chairman     Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(Amounts in thousand)

RESERVES
Note Share  

capital
CAPITAL REVENUE Total

Share
premium
(note 18)

Employee 
share option 

compensation 
reserve

Remeasurement  
of post 

employment  
benefits

Unappropriated 
profit / (loss)

---------------------------------Rupees--------------------------------- 

Balance as at January 1, 2019  7,665,961  865,354  217,910  (137,826)  729,661  9,341,060 

Employee share option scheme 19 -  -  (6,871)  -  -  (6,871)

Transfer of employee share option compensation
reserve to unappropriated profit  -  -  (95,522)  -  95,522  - 

Loss for the year  -  -  -  -  (954,865)  (954,865)
Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  5,341  -  5,341 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year  -  -  -  5,341  (954,865)  (949,524)

Balance as at December 31, 2019 /
January 1, 2020  7,665,961  865,354  115,517  (132,485)  (129,682)  8,384,665 

Transfer of employee share option compensation
reserve to unappropriated profit  -  -  (15,071)  -  15,071  - 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  176,926  176,926 
Other comprehensive loss for the year  -  -  -  (13,947)  -  (13,947)

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year  -  -  -  (13,947)  176,926  162,979 

Balance as at December 31, 2020  7,665,961  865,354  100,446  (146,432)  62,315  8,547,644 

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.  

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(Amounts in thousand)

Note 2020 2019
----------Rupees---------- 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 36  3,959,546  3,254,046 
Finance costs paid  (1,346,034)  (990,078)
Taxes paid  (506,455)  (658,024)
Contribution to the retirement benefits paid 38.8  (188,500)  (95,674)
Long term advances and deposits - net  15,153  11,786 
Net cash generated from operating activities  1,933,710  1,522,056 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of:
- property, plant and equipment 4.5  (1,594,105)  (1,145,873)
- intangibles 4.5  (355)  (12,221)

Proceeds from disposal of:
- property, plant and equipment 4.4  121,510  83,619 
- biological assets  157,219  236,093 

Net cash utilized in investing activities  (1,315,731)  (838,382)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from long term finances 20.2  1,957,142  - 
Dividend paid  (224)  (620)
Repayment of lease liability against right-of-use assets  (254,200)  (457,438)

Net cash generated from / (utilized in) financing activities  1,702,718  (458,058)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  2,320,697  225,616 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  (1,750,235)  (1,975,851)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 37  570,462  (1,750,235)

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Abdul Samad Dawood Ali Ahmed Khan Imran Husain
Chairman     Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Abdul Samad Dawood Ali Ahmed Khan Imran Husain
Chairman     Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(Amounts in thousand)

1. LEGAL STATUS AND OPERATIONS

1.1 FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited (the Company), is a public listed company incorporated in Pakistan, under 
the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984 (now the Companies Act, 2017), and its shares are quoted on the 
Pakistan Stock Exchange. The Company is a subsidiary of FrieslandCampina Pakistan Holdings B.V. (the Holding 
Company) which is a subsidiary of Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina UA (the Ultimate Parent Company) and its 
registered office is situated at 5th Floor, the Harbor Front Building, Plot No. HC-3, Block-4, Scheme No. 5, Clifton, 
Karachi.

1.2 The Business Units of the Company Include the Following:

Business Unit Geographical Location

Head Office 5th Floor, the Harbor Front Building, Plot No. HC-3, Block-4, Scheme No. 5, Clifton, Karachi.

Sahiwal Plant 8 km Road Pakpattan Road, Sahiwal.

Sukkur Plant Deh Miani Baghat, Tapa Rohri, Taluka Rohri, District Sukkur.

Dairy Farm Near Qalmi Quran Taluka Salehpat, District Sukkur.

Regional sales offices and milk collection centers are located across the country, the details of which are 
impracticable to disclose in these financial statements as required under Paragraph 1 (i) of Part I of the 4th 
Schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 (the Act).

1.3 The principal activity of the Company is to manufacture, process and sell dairy products, beverages, ice cream and 
frozen desserts. The Company also owns and operates a dairy farm.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation

2.1.1 These financials statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise stated.

2.1.2 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as 
applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) as notified under the Act; and 

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Act.

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Act differ from the IFRSs, the provisions of and directives issued 
under the Act have been followed.

2.1.3 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the above requirements requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying 
the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving high degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to these financial statements are disclosed in note 3.

2.1.4 During the year, the management reassessed its reported segments and has concluded that dairy farm, which was 
being reported as separate segment, no longer qualifies as a reportable segment, owing to fact that chief operating 
decision makers are no longer reviewing the results of dairy farm separately. Operating results of dairy farm are now 
being reported as part of dairy and beverages segment. Accordingly, all financial information related to dairy farm 
has been reported as part of dairy and beverages segment and prior year results have been restated. 

(Amounts in thousand)

2.1.5 Initial application of standards, amendments or interpretations to existing standards

a) Amendments to accounting and reporting standards that became effective during the year

There are certain amendments to the accounting and reporting standards that became effective during the 
year ended December 31, 2020, however, these are considered not to have a significant impact on the 
Company’s financial reporting and operations and therefore have not been presented here.

b) Standards, amendments and interpretation to published standards that are not yet effective and have not 
been early adopted by the Company

There is a standard and certain amendments to the accounting and reporting standards that are not yet 
effective and are also not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial reporting and 
therefore, have not been presented in these financial statements.

2.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

Owned

These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any, except for freehold land and capital 
work-in-progress, which are stated at cost.

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss using the straight-line method whereby the cost of an operating asset less 
its estimated residual value is written off over its estimated useful life at rates given in note 4.1. Depreciation on 
additions is charged from the month in which the asset is available for use and on disposals upto the preceding 
month of disposal.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives and such are material, those 
are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during 
the year in which these are incurred. 

Assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. An asset’s 
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount and the resulting impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. The 
recoverable amount is higher of fair value, less cost of disposal and value in use. Reversal of impairment is effected 
in the case of indications of a change in recoverable amount and is recognized in profit or loss, however, is restricted 
to the net book value of the asset had there been no impairment.

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an asset represented by the difference between the sale proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset is recognized as an income or expense in the period of disposal or retirement.

2.3 Biological Assets

Livestock are measured at their fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs. Fair value of livestock is determined 
by an external valuer on the basis of best available estimates for livestock of similar attributes.

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of livestock are recognized in 
profit or loss.

Crops in the ground and at the point of harvest at the reporting date are measured at cost being an approximation 
of fair value, as these are presently being used as internal consumption for cattle feed and have a very short 
biological transformation and consumption cycle.

2.4 Intangibles - Computer Software

Intangibles are recognized if it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can also be measured reliably.

Generally, costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognized as an expense as 
incurred. However, costs that are directly associated with identifiable software and have probable economic 
benefits exceeding the cost beyond one year, are recognized as intangibles. Direct costs include the purchase cost 
of software and related overhead cost.
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Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its original specification 
and useful life is recognized as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.

Computer software cost treated as intangibles are amortized from the date the software is put to use on straight-
line basis over a period of 5 years. The carrying amount of the intangibles is reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognized for the amount by which the assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount in profit or loss. 
Reversal of impairment losses are also recognized in profit or loss.

2.5 Financial Assets and Liabilities

2.5.1 Financial Assets

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

a) Amortized cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flow represents solely payments 
of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets, 
impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses, and gain or loss arising on derecognition are recognized 
directly in profit or loss.

b) Fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business model whose 
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

c) Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income or 
assets that are designated at fair value through profit or loss using fair value option, are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on debt instrument that is subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss is recognized in profit or loss in the year in which it arises.

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Company’s management 
has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investment in other comprehensive income, there 
is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of 
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other income 
when the Company’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in other gain / 
(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) 
on equity investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are not reported separately 
from other changes in fair value.

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired 
or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

2.5.2 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially measured at fair value less transaction costs. 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are 
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange and modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in respective carrying 
amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

2.5.3 Offsetting

A financial asset and financial liability is off-set and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the transaction and also there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.6 Impairment

a) Financial assets

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets. 
The Company applies the simplified approach to recognize lifetime expected credit losses for trade debts. 

For financial assets other than trade debts, the Company applies general approach in calculating expected 
credit losses. It is based on difference between the contractual cashflows due in accordance with the contract 
and all the cashflows that the Company expect to receive discounted at the approximation of the original 
effective interest rate. The expected cashflows will include cash flows from sale of collateral held or other 
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial 
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

The Company recognizes in profit or loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses 
(or reversals) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date.

b) Non-Financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to ascertain whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated to 
determine the extent of impairment loss, if any. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense in profit or 
loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and value-in-use. Value-
in-use is ascertained through discounting of the estimated future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the assets. For the purpose of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units).

An impairment loss is reversed if there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss 
had been recognized.

2.7 Stores, Spares and Loose Tools

These are valued at weighted average cost except for items in transit, which are stated at invoice value plus other 
charges paid thereon till the reporting date. A provision is made for any excess book value over estimated realizable 
value of items identified as surplus to the Company’s requirements. Adequate provision is also made for slow 
moving and obsolete items.

Spare parts of capital nature which can be used only in connection with an item of property, plant and equipment 
are shown separately as major spare parts and stand-by equipment.

2.8 Stock-in-Trade

Stock-in-trade is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using weighted average 
method except for raw materials in transit which are stated at invoice value plus other charges paid thereon till 
the reporting date. Cost of finished goods comprises purchase cost and other manufacturing expenses. The cost of 
work in process includes material and proportionate conversion costs. 

Milk is initially measured at its fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs at the time of milking. The fair value of 
milk is determined based on market prices in the local area.

Net realizable value signifies the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated cost 
of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Provision is made for slow moving stocks where 
considered necessary.
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2.9 Trade Debts and Other Receivables

Trade debts and other receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, 
unless they contain significant financing component in which case trade debts are recognized at fair value. The 
Company holds the trade debts and other receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows 
and therefore measures the receivables subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Impairment of trade debts and other receivables is described in note 2.6.

Exchange gains and losses arising on translation in respect of ‘trade debts’ and ‘other receivables’ in foreign currency 
are added to the carrying amount of the respective receivables. 

2.10 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows include cash in hand and in transit, balances with 
banks on current, deposit and saving accounts, short-term highly liquid investments subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in values and short term finances. Short term finances on the statement of financial position are shown 
as part of current liabilities.

2.11 Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity and are recorded at their face value. Incremental costs, if any, directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options, are recognized in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

2.12 Employees’ Share Option Scheme

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at fair value at the grant date. The fair 
value determined at the grant date of the equity settled share-based payments is recognized as an employee 
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected life used in the model has been 
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate for the effects of exercise restrictions.

When a vested option lapses on expiry of the exercise period, employee compensation expense already recognized 
in the statement of profit or loss, is transferred to unappropriated profit from employee share option compensation 
reserve in the statement of financial position.

When the options are exercised, employee share option compensation reserve relating to these options is transferred 
to share capital and share premium. An amount equivalent to the face value of related shares is transferred to share 
capital. Any amount over and above the share capital is transferred to share premium.

2.13 Staff Retirement and Other Service Benefits

2.13.1 Defined Benefit Plan

Engro Corporation Limited (an associated company) operates and maintains an approved defined benefit funded 
gratuity plan (the Fund) on behalf of the Company, for all its permanent employees. The Fund provides for a 
graduated scale of benefits dependent on the length of service of an employee on terminal date, subject to the 
completion of minimum qualifying period of service. Gratuity is based on employees’ last drawn basic salary. 

Provisions are made to cover the obligations under the Fund on the basis of actuarial valuation carried out annually 
by an external expert, using the ‘Projected Unit Credit Method’. All remeasurement gains and losses are recognized 
in ‘other comprehensive income’ as these occur.

The amount recognized in the statement of financial position represents the present value of defined benefit 
obligations as reduced by the fair value of plan assets.

2.13.2 Defined Contribution Plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contribution 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss when 
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in 
future payments is available.

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

Engro Corporation Limited (an associated company) operates and maintains:

- an approved defined contribution provident fund on behalf of the Company for permanent employees of the 
Company. Monthly contributions are made both by the Company and employees to the fund at the rate of 
10% of basic salary; and

- an approved defined contribution gratuity fund for the benefit of management employees of the Company. 
Monthly contributions are made by the Company to the fund at the rate of 8.33% of basic salary.

2.13.3 Compensated Absences

The Company accounts for compensated absences on the basis of unavailed leave balance of eligible employees 
at the end of the year.

2.14 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional / contractual right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at-least twelve months after the reporting date.

2.15 Government Grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grant will be received.

The benefit of a long-term finance at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured 
as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Government grants related to long-term finances are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the 
periods in which the Company recognizes as finance cost related to long-term finances at market rate of interest.

2.16 Lease Liability and Right-of-Use Asset

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. 

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive 
to exercise an extension option or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination 
options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to extended (or not terminated).

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments over the period of lease term and 
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentive receivable, variable lease payment that are based 
on an index or a rate which are initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date, amounts 
expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees, the exercise price of a purchase option 
if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option and payments of penalties for terminating the lease if 
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option. The extension and termination options are incorporated in 
determination of lease term only when the Company is reasonably certain to exercise these options.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The lease 
liability is also remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or to reflect revised in-substance 
fixed lease payment. 

The lease liability is remeasured when the Company reassesses the reasonable certainty of exercise of extension or 
termination option upon occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change in circumstance, or when 
there is a change in assessment of an option to purchase underlying asset, or when there is a change in amount 
expected to be payable under a residual  value guarantee, or when there is a change in future lease payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payment. The corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the right-to-use asset, or is recorded in profit and loss if the carrying amount of 
right-to-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
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A change in scope of a lease, or the consideration for a lease, that was not part of the original terms and conditions 
of the lease is accounted for as a lease modification. The lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease 
if modification increase the scope of lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets and the 
consideration for lease increases by an amount that is commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase 
in scope adjusted to reflect the circumstances of the particular contracts, if any. When the lease modification is 
not accounted for as a separate lease, the lease liability is remeasured and corresponding adjustment is made to 
right-of-use asset.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured based on the initial measurement of lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate 
of costs to be incurred to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site 
on which it is located.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost model. The right of use asset is depreciated on a straight 
line method over the lease term as this method most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefits. The right-of-use asset is reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
for short term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The lease 
payments associated with these leases is recognized as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

2.17 Trade and Other Payables

These are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Exchange gains and losses arising in respect of liabilities in foreign currency are added to the carrying 
amount of the respective liabilities.

Trade payable under vendor financing arrangements are closely related to operating purchase activities and the 
financing arrangement does not lead to any significant change in the nature or function of the liabilities. These 
liabilities are therefore classified as trade payables as specified in note 23. The credit period does not exceed 12 
months and the accounts payables are therefore not discounted.

2.18 Contract Assets and Liabilities

Contract asset is the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Company has 
transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than the passage of time. If a 
customer makes a payment or an amount of payment is due before the Company has satisfied its performance 
obligations, the Company presents that amount as a contract liability.

Impairment of a contract asset is measured, presented and disclosed on the same basis as a financial asset that is 
within the scope of IFRS 9.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, and it is probable that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted to reflect current best estimate.

2.20 Taxation

2.20.1 Current

Provision for current taxation is based on the taxable income for the year, determined in accordance with the 
prevailing law for taxation on income, using prevailing tax rates. The charge for current tax also includes tax credits 
and adjustments, where considered necessary, for prior years determined during the year or otherwise considered 
necessary for such years.

2.20.2 Deferred

Deferred income tax is accounted for using the liability method on all temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and the carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities are 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 
and tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset will be realized or the deferred income 
tax liability will be settled. Deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss.

2.21 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Company’s functional currency. Foreign 
currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in profit or loss.

2.22 Revenue and Income Recognition

Revenue is recognized at a point in time when performance obligations are satisfied by transferring control of 
promised goods or services to a customer. Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable, excluding discounts, rebates and government levies.

Interest income on bank deposits and scrap sales are recognized on an accrual basis. 

2.23 Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to income as and when incurred, except for certain development 
costs which are recognized as intangibles when it is probable that the development project will be a success and 
certain criteria, including commercial and technological feasibility have been met.

2.24 Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which these are incurred except where such costs 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, in which case, such 
costs are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Borrowing costs include exchange differences arising from 
foreign currency borrowings to the extent these are regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs.

2.25 Earnings Per Share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) in respect of its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit 
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for 
the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.26 Dividend and Appropriation to Reserves

Dividend and appropriation to reserves are recognized in the financial statements in the period in which these 
are approved.

2.27 Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of the Company that makes 
the strategic decisions.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company 
makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:
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a) Taxation

In making the estimates for current income taxes payable by the Company, the management considers 
the applicable laws and the decisions / judgments of appellate authorities on certain issues in the past. 
Accordingly, the recognition of deferred tax is also made, taking into account these judgments and the best 
estimates of future results of operations of the Company. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the assets may be utilized.

b) Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangibles

The Company reviews the appropriateness of the rate of depreciation / amortization, useful lives and residual 
values used for recording the depreciation / amortization on annual basis. Further, if required based on any 
indication for impairment, an estimate of recoverable amount of assets is made for possible impairment.

c) Biological Assets

The fair values of biological assets (Dairy livestock) is determined semi-annually by utilizing the services of an 
external expert. These valuations are mainly based on market conditions and physical attributes of livestock 
existing at the end of each reporting period, which are subject to change at each period end due to market 
conditions.

d) Stock-in-Trade

The Company regularly reviews the net realizable value of stock-in-trade to asses any diminution in the 
carrying values. Net realizable value is determined with reference to estimated selling price less estimated 
expenditure to be incurred to make the sale.

e) Stores and Spares 

The Company reviews stores and spares for possible impairment on an annual basis. Any change in the 
estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of stores and spares with 
a corresponding effect on the provision.

f) Provision for Staff Retirement and Other Service Benefits

The present value of the obligations is determined by an independent actuary using a number of assumptions 
and other factors. Any change in these assumptions and factors will impact the obligations recorded in the 
financial statements.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Operating assets (note 4.1)  10,099,093  10,328,104 
Capital work-in-progress (note 4.5)  205,848  439,746 
Major spare parts and stand-by equipment (note 10)  143,513  145,365 

 10,448,454  10,913,215 

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

4.1 Operating Assets

Freehold 
land  

(note 4.7)

 Buildings and 
civil works on 
freehold land 

(note 4.7)   

Plant, machinery 
and related equipment 

(note 4.2)

 Computer 
equipment 
(note 4.2)

 Office 
equipment 

and furniture 
& fittings 

Vehicles (note 4.2) Total
 Owned  Leased  Owned  Leased 

 ------------------------------------------------ Rupees ------------------------------------------------  
As at January 1, 2019

Cost  408,580  4,189,991 17,432,748  323,383  346,629  387,452  790,264  1,389  23,880,436 
Accumulated depreciation  - (1,647,793) (9,929,068)  (82,359)  (220,615)  (321,832)  (470,225)  (1,389)  (12,673,281)
Accumulated impairment  -  (850)  (200,450)  -  (9)  (1,509)  (529)  -  (203,347)
Net book value  408,580  2,541,348  7,303,230  241,024  126,005  64,111  319,510  -  11,003,808 

Year ended December 31, 2019

Opening net book value  408,580  2,541,348  7,303,230  241,024  126,005  64,111  319,510  -  11,003,808 

Reclassification due to IFRS 16
Cost  -  -  - (323,383)  -  -  1,389  (1,389)  (323,383)
Accumulated depreciation  -  -  -  82,359  -  -  (1,389)  1,389  82,359 

 -  -  - (241,024)  -  -  -  -  (241,024)

Transfer in from right-of-use assets  -  -  215,531  -  -  -  -  -  215,531 

Additions, including
transfers (note 4.5)  2,395  129,612  830,423  -  81,584  32,876  278,300  -  1,355,190 

Disposals (note 4.4)
Cost  -  -  (248,454)  -  (24,346)  (4,290)  (124,079)  -  (401,169)
Accumulated depreciation  -  -  228,979  -  23,373  4,072  100,686  -  357,110 
Accumulated impairment  -  -  4,787  -  -  3  -  -  4,790 

 -  -  (14,688)  -  (973)  (215)  (23,393)  -  (39,269)

Depreciation (note 4.3)  -  (213,425) (1,501,413)  -  (66,276)  (21,041)  (143,344)  -  (1,945,499)

Impairment charge / reversal
(notes 4.6, 28, 29 and 30)  -  -  (16,033)  -  (158)  (3,742)  (700)  -  (20,633)

Write-off
Cost  -  -  (513)  -  (243)  (2,573)  -  -  (3,329)
Accumulated depreciation  -  -  446  -  76  2,420  -  -  2,942 
Accumulated impairment  -  -  67  -  167  153  -  -  387 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Closing net book value  410,975  2,457,535  6,817,050  -  140,182  71,989  430,373  -  10,328,104 

As at December 31, 2019

Cost  410,975  4,319,603 18,229,735  -  403,624  413,465  945,874  -  24,723,276 
Accumulated depreciation  - (1,861,218) (11,201,056)  -  (263,442)  (336,381)  (514,272)  -  (14,176,369)
Accumulated impairment  -  (850)  (211,629)  -  -  (5,095)  (1,229)  -  (218,803)
Net book value  410,975  2,457,535  6,817,050  -  140,182  71,989  430,373  -  10,328,104 

Year ended December 31, 2020

Opening net book value  410,975  2,457,535  6,817,050  -  140,182  71,989  430,373  -  10,328,104 

Additions, including
transfers (note 4.5)  5,161  154,734  1,214,945  -  53,781  33,069  366,313  -  1,828,003 

Disposals (note 4.4)
Cost  -  -  (214,694)  -  (6,637)  (6,759)  (179,085)  -  (407,175)
Accumulated depreciation  -  -  194,948  -  5,983  6,422  154,837  -  362,190 
Accumulated impairment  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  (19,746)  -  (654)  (337)  (24,248)  -  (44,985)

Depreciation (note 4.3)  -  (214,586) (1,521,037)  -  (71,299)  (21,756)  (163,010)  -  (1,991,688)

Impairment charge
(notes 4.6, 28, 29 and 30)  -  (51)  (17,949)  -  (208)  (1,894)  (239)  -  (20,341)

Write-off
Cost  -  (14,751)  (77,219)  -  (409)  -  (4,251)  -  (96,630)
Accumulated depreciation  -  14,701  59,560  -  274  -  3,109  -  77,644 
Accumulated impairment  -  50  17,659  -  135  -  1,142  -  18,986 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Closing net book value  416,136  2,397,632  6,473,263  -  121,802  81,071  609,189  -  10,099,093 

As at December 31, 2020

Cost  416,136  4,459,586 19,152,767  -  450,359  439,775  1,128,851  -  26,047,474 
Accumulated depreciation  - (2,061,103) (12,467,585)  -  (328,484)  (351,715)  (519,336)  -  (15,728,223)
Accumulated impairment  -  (851)  (211,919)  -  (73)  (6,989)  (326)  -  (220,158)
Net book value  416,136  2,397,632  6,473,263  -  121,802  81,071  609,189  -  10,099,093 

Annual rate of 
depreciation (%)  -  5 to 33.3 8.33 to 25 20 20 to 33.3 20 25 25
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4.2 Includes Following Assets Held by Third Parties:

2020 2019

Description Cost 
Net 

Book Value Cost
Net

Book Value Reason (note 4.2.1)
----------------- Rupees ----------------- 

Plant, machinery and related
equipment  298,705  145,559  218,429  78,211 Equipment mounted on transport

contractors’ vehicles.

Plant, machinery and related
equipment 1,624,246  973,812 1,324,491  704,244 Freezers held with third party for

ice cream sales.

Computer equipment  16,597  -    16,597  -   Computer equipment managed
by a third party for disaster
recovery.

Vehicles  244,295  133,566  225,396  135,970 Trikes held with third party for ice
cream sales.

2,183,843 1,252,937 1,784,913  918,425 

4.2.1 In view of the nature of items that are being held by large number of the Company’s business partners, the 
Company considers it impracticable to disclose particulars of assets not in the possession of the Company as 
required under Paragraph 12 of Part II of the Fourth Schedule to the Act. 

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

4.3 The Depreciation Charge has been Allocated as Follows:

- Cost of sales (note 28)  1,654,878  1,675,892 
- Distribution and marketing expenses (note 29)  313,441  251,770 
- Administrative expenses (note 30)  23,369  17,837 

 1,991,688  1,945,499 

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

4.4 The Details of Operating Assets Disposed off During the year are as Follows:

Description and
    method of disposal Sold to Cost Accumulated Net Sale Gain / 

depreciation book proceeds (loss)
and value

impairment
----------------------------Rupees----------------------------

Vehicles 
By the Company policy to existing / 

separating employees Muhaimin Mahmood Khan  2,398  (674)  1,724  1,734  10 
Mohsin Mahmood  878  (198)  680  510  (170)

Sold through auction under 
the Company policy Muhammad Waqar Alam  12,746  (11,471)  1,275  10,425  9,150 

 16,022  (12,343)  3,679  12,669  8,990 
By the Company policy to existing / 

separating employees having 
net book value of less than Rs. 500  162,265  (141,862)  20,403  56,411  36,008 

Insurance claim EFU General Insurance Limited  798  (632)  166  754  588 

 179,085  (154,837)  24,248  69,834  45,586 

Plant, machinery and related 
equipment - owned

Sold through bidding/auction
under the Company policy having 
net book value of less than Rs. 500  214,694  (194,948)  19,746  49,193  29,447 

Office equipment
Sold through bidding/auction

under the Company policy having 
net book value of less than Rs. 500  6,759  (6,422)  337  1,241  904 

Computer equipment
Sold through bidding/auction

under the Company policy having 
net book value of less than Rs. 500  6,637  (5,983)  654  1,242  588 

December 31, 2020  407,175  (362,190)  44,985  121,510  76,525 

December 31, 2019  401,169  (361,900)  39,269  83,619  44,350 
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4.5 Capital Work-in-Progress

Land
Building on 

freehold  
land

Plant, 
machinery 
and related 
equipment

IS and milk 
automation 

projects

Office 
equipment/ 
Furniture & 
Fittings/ 
Computer 
equipment

Vehicles Total

---------------------------------------Rupees---------------------------------------
Year ended December 31, 2019

Balance as at January 1, 2019  -  64,819  421,106  21,711  35,685  127,453  670,774 

Additions during the year  2,395  124,507  687,912  12,221  104,447  226,612  1,158,094 

Transferred to:
- operating assets (note 4.1)  (2,395)  (129,612)  (830,423)  -  (114,460)  (278,300)  (1,355,190)
- intangibles (note 6)  -  -  -  (33,932)  -  -  (33,932)

Balance as at December 31, 2019  -  59,714  278,595  -  25,672  75,765  439,746 

Year ended December 31, 2020

Balance as at January 1, 2020  -  59,714  278,595  -  25,672  75,765  439,746 

Additions during the year  5,161  108,948  1,040,858  355  77,669  361,469  1,594,460 

Transferred to:
- operating assets (note 4.1)  (5,161)  (154,734)  (1,214,945)  -  (86,850)  (366,313)  (1,828,003)
- intangibles (note 6)  -  -  -  (355)  -  -  (355)

Balance as at December 31, 2020  -  13,928  104,508  -  16,491  70,921  205,848 

4.6 During the year, the Company has recorded an impairment charge, net of reversal, amounting to Rs. 20,341 
(2019: Rs. 20,633) against idle assets, determined on the basis of fair value of the assets less cost of disposal. The 
Company based on a review for impairment on the operating assets identified that the carrying values of certain 
operating assets in Dairy and Beverages segment exceed the estimated recoverable amounts. These assets were 
deemed as idle primarily due to discontinuation of certain SKUs to rationalize product portfolio of the Company. 
The recoverable amount of these assets amounted to Nil (2019: Nil) determined on the basis of fair value less 
cost of disposal of underlying assets which is based on the historical experience of net recovery proceeds on similar 
nature of assets. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to unobservable inputs 
used in the valuation.

4.7 The Details of Immovable Fixed Assets (i.e. Land and Buildings) are as Follows:

Description of location Addresses
 

 Total Area
of Land in 

Square Yards

Production Plant 8 km Road Pakpattan Road, Sahiwal.  485,641 
Production Plant Deh Miani Baghat, Tapa Rohri, Taluka Rohri, District Sukkur.  148,104 
Dairy Farm Near Qalmi Quran Taluka Salehpat, District Sukkur.  1,064,800 

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

5. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Dairy livestock (note 5.1):
- mature  726,296  750,129 
- immature  529,023  458,129 

 1,255,319  1,208,258 
Provision for culling (notes 5.2 and 31)  (57,702)  (121,553)

 1,197,617  1,086,705 
Crops - feed stock  68  29 

 1,197,685  1,086,734 
5.1 Reconciliation of Carrying Amounts of Livestock

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  1,086,705  1,207,391 

Add:
Changes in fair value due to biological transformation:
- Gain due to new births [inclusive of cost of feeding 

immature herd of Rs. 258,485 (2019: Rs. 254,775)]  304,883  313,479 
- Loss due to increase in age of livestock  (117,220)  (62,514)

 187,663  250,965 
Changes in fair value due to price changes:
- Gain due to currency devaluation  36,181  146,407 
- Gain / (loss) due to change in 

international market prices  80,043  (82,985)
 116,224  63,422 

Total gain (note 32)  303,887  314,387 
Less: 

- Decrease due to deaths / disposals  (135,273)  (313,520)
- Provision for culling (note 5.2)  (57,702)  (121,553)

Carrying amount at the end of the year, which 
approximates the fair value  1,197,617  1,086,705 

5.2 Represents provision in respect of low yielding animals, animals having poor health and animals to be culled due 
to capacity constraints.

5.3 As at December 31, 2020, the Company held 3,151 (2019: 3,391) mature assets able to produce milk and 
2,162 (2019: 2,076) immature assets that are being raised to produce milk in the future. During the year, 
the Company produced approximately 21,523,666 (2019: 20,485,240) gross litres of milk from these 
biological assets.

5.4 As at December 31, 2020, the Company held 47 (2019: 43) immature male calves. 

5.5 The valuation of dairy livestock as at December 31, 2020 has been carried out by an external valuer. In this 
regard, the valuer examined the physical condition of the livestock, assessed the farm conditions and relied on 
the representations made by the Company as at December 31, 2020. Further, market and replacement values 
of similar live stock from active markets in USA, EU and Australia, have also been used by the valuer as a basis 
of valuation. Immature male calves have not been included in the fair valuation due to the insignificant value in 
use. The valuation is considered to be level 2 in the fair value hierarchy due to observable market data other than 
quoted prices in active markets.
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2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

6. INTANGIBLES - Computer Software

Net Carrying Value

Balance at beginning of the year  95,135  92,420 
Add: Additions at cost (note 4.5)  355  33,932 
Less: Amortization charge for the year (notes 6.1 and 30)  (28,406)  (28,555)
Less: Write-off

Cost  -  (9,424)
Accumulated amortization  -  6,762 

 -  (2,662)
Balance at end of the year  67,084  95,135 

Gross Carrying Value

Cost  464,275  463,921 
Less: Accumulated amortization  (397,191)  (368,786)
Net book value  67,084  95,135 

6.1 The cost is being amortized over a period of 5 years

7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

 Land and 
buildings 

 Plant and 
equipment 

 Vehicles  Total 

----------------------Rupees----------------------
Year ended December 31, 2019

Impact on adoption of IFRS 16
Cost  390,131  501,826  -    891,957 
Accumulated depreciation  -    (82,359)  -    (82,359)

 390,131  419,467  -    809,598 

Additions  72,445  -    150,356  222,801 

Disposal
Cost  (288)  (18,799)  -    (19,087)
Accumulated depreciation  288  18,799  -    19,087 

 -    -    -    -   
Transfer out to operating assets 

Cost  -    (323,383)  -    (323,383)
Accumulated depreciation  -    107,852  -    107,852 

 -    (215,531)  -    (215,531)

Depreciation charge (note 7.1)  (147,506)  (136,219)  (12,558)  (296,283)

Remeasurement  1,950  124,652  -    126,602 

Closing net book value  317,020  192,369  137,798  647,187 

At December 31, 2019

Cost  464,238  284,296  150,356  898,890 
Accumulated depreciation  (147,218)  (91,927)  (12,558)  (251,703)
Net book value  317,020  192,369  137,798  647,187 

Year ended December 31, 2020

Opening net book value  317,020  192,369  137,798  647,187 

Additions  7,026  -    36,954  43,980 

Disposal
Cost  (1,084)  -    -    (1,084)
Accumulated depreciation  1,084  -    -    1,084 

 -    -    -    -   

Depreciation charge (note 7.1)  (126,297)  (72,948)  (42,465)  (241,710)

Remeasurement  (34,943)  37,731  (1,107)  1,681 

Closing net book value  162,806  157,152  131,180  451,138 

At December 31, 2020
Cost  435,237  322,027  186,203  943,467 
Accumulated depreciation  (272,431)  (164,875)  (55,023)  (492,329)
Net book value  162,806  157,152  131,180  451,138 

Rate of depreciation (%) 20 - 50 20 - 33.33 25

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

7.1 The Depreciation Charge has been Allocated as Follows:

- Cost of sales (note 28)  125,656  176,325 
- Distribution and marketing expenses (note 29)  28,079  27,745 
- Administrative expenses (note 30)  87,975  92,213 

 241,710  296,283 

8. DEFERRED TAX ASSET - Net

Debit balances arising due to:
- Provisions for stock-in-trade, stores and spares 

and receivables  104,782  55,835 
- Minimum turnover tax (note 8.1)  1,056,795  998,644 
- Share issuance cost, net to equity  11,234  11,234 
- Lease liability against right-of-use assets  144,513  188,344 

 1,317,324  1,254,057 
Credit balances arising due to:

- Accelerated tax depreciation / amortization  (21,910)  (566,086)
- Right-of-use assets  (130,830)  (187,684)
- Biological assets  (347,309)  (315,144)
- Others  (11,031)  (10,805)

 (511,080)  (1,079,719)
 806,244  174,338 

8.1 The Company has recognized deferred tax asset on Minimum turnover tax of taxable turnover amounting to Rs. 
1,056,795 (2019: Rs. 998,644) as the Company, based on its financial projections, expects to recoup it in the 
ensuing years. The Company carries out periodic assessments to determine if the Company would be able to 
recoup minimum turnover tax paid against the tax liability of the Company for future years. This process relies on 
the assessment of the Company’s profitability forecast, which in turn is based on assumptions concerning future 
economic conditions and business performance.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

9. LONG-TERM ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS 
- Unsecured, Considered Good

Advances to employees (notes 9.1, 9.2 and  9.3)  242  5,792 
Less: Recoverable within one year shown 

under current assets (note 13)  (219)  (2,975)
 23  2,817 

Deposits  43,758  56,117 
 43,781  58,934 

9.1 Reconciliation of the Carrying Amount of 
Advances to Employees

Balance as at January 1  5,792  27,210 
Add: Disbursements  -  - 
Less:

- Repayments  -  (18,627)
- Amortization  (5,550)  (2,791)

Balance as at December 31  242  5,792 
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9.2 These include interest free advances to employees for vehicles given in accordance with the terms of employment 
under the vehicle earn-out scheme. These advances are amortized over a period of 48 months, unless repaid as 
a result of change in employee classification level or leaving the Company. These also include investment loan 
plan assistance repayable after 3 years in lump sum and long-term incentive given to certain employees which is 
amortized over a period of 3 years, unless repaid as a result of leaving the Company.

9.3 These include advances to key management personnel amounting to Rs. 115 (2019: Rs. 206). The maximum 
aggregate amount due from them at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 207 (2019: Rs. 299).

9.4 The carrying values of these financial assets are neither past due nor impaired. The credit quality of these financial 
assets can be assessed with reference to no defaults ever.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

10. STORES, SPARES AND LOOSE TOOLS 

Stores  96,298  80,612 
Spares and loose tools, including in-transit  735,754  754,356 

 832,052  834,968 
Less: Provision for slow moving spares and loose tools  (244,302)  (174,555)

 587,750  660,413 
Less: Major spare parts and stand by equipment - shown

under property, plant and equipment (note 4)  (143,513)  (145,365)
 444,237  515,048 

10.1 The Movement in Provision During the Year is as Follows:

Balance as at January 1  174,555  120,506 
Provision against slow moving spares (note 28)  69,747  54,049 
Balance as at December 31  244,302  174,555 

11. STOCK-IN-TRADE

Raw and packaging material (notes 11.1 and 11.4)  2,348,105  2,691,553 
Work in process (note 11.2)  355,030  433,776 
Finished goods (note 11.3)  867,086  608,290 

 3,570,221  3,733,619 
Less: Provision for expired / obsolete stock (note 11.5)  (31,329)  (15,889)

 3,538,892  3,717,730 

11.1 Includes Rs. 459,314 (2019: Rs. 572,263) in respect of raw and packaging material held by third parties.

11.2 Includes Rs. 126,121 (2019: Rs. 76,549) in respect of semi-finished stock held by third parties.

11.3 Include Rs. 11,046 (2019: Rs. 8,892) in respect of finished goods held by third parties and Rs. 61,132 (2019: 
36,491) in respect of finished goods stock carried at net realizable value.

11.4 Stock amounting to Rs. 4,010 (2019: Rs. 4,847) has been written off against provision during the year.

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

11.5 The Movement in Provision During the Year is as Follows:

Balance as at January 1  15,889  49,859 
Provision / (reversal of provision) against

slow moving stock-in-trade (note 28)  19,450  (29,123)
Stock-in-trade written off  (4,010)  (4,847)
Balance as at December 31  31,329  15,889 

12. TRADE DEBTS - Unsecured

Considered good (notes 12.1 and 12.2)  801,387  915,728 
Considered doubtful (note 12.3)  17,772  2,092 

 819,159  917,820 
Less: Provision for impairment (note 12.3)  (17,772)  (2,092)

 801,387  915,728 

12.1 As at December 31, 2020, trade debts aggregating to Rs. 93,870 (2019: Rs. 13,658) were past due but not 
impaired. These relate to various customers and have either been confirmed / acknowledged by the customer or 
cleared subsequent to the year end. 

12.2 As at December 31, 2020, trade debts aggregating to Rs. 707,517 (2019: Rs. 902,070) were neither past due 
nor impaired. The credit quality of these receivables can be assessed with reference to their historical performance 
with no defaults ever.

12.3 As at December 31, 2020, trade debts aggregating to Rs. 17,772 (2019: Rs. 2,092) were deemed to have been 
impaired and provided for. Trade debts amounting to Rs. 112 (2019: Nil) were considered irrecoverable and have 
been written off during the year. The movement in provision during the year is as follows:

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

Balance as at January 1  2,092  45 
Provision for impairment of trade debts (note 30)  15,680  2,047 
Balance as at December 31  17,772  2,092 

13. ADVANCES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
- Unsecured, Considered Good

Advances to employees (note 13.1)  29,552  32,611 

Add: Current portion of long term advances 
to employees (note 9)  219  2,975 

 29,771  35,586 

Advances to suppliers  121,254  174,464 
Deposits  8,787  13,491 
Prepayments  105,789  47,325 

 265,601  270,866 

13.1 These include advances to key management personnel amounting to Rs. 2,528 (2019: Rs. 3,477). The maximum 
aggregate amount due from them at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 3,968 (2019: Rs. 5,043).

13.2 The carrying values of these financial assets are neither past due nor impaired. The credit quality of these financial 
assets can be assessed with reference to no defaults ever.
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2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

14. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Receivable from related parties (note 14.1):
- FrieslandCampina Nederland B.V.  34,322  70,034 
- Dutch Lady Milk Industries Berhad  -  1,836 
- FrieslandCampina AMEA Pte Limited  4,517  946 
- FC Thailand Make  -  95 
- Alaska Milk Corporation - Philippines  1,359  - 
- PT Frisian Flag Indonesia  511  - 

 40,709  72,911 

Others  117,538  242,570 
Gross amount  158,247  315,481 

Less: Provision for impairment  -  (2,000)
 158,247  313,481 

14.1 The maximum aggregate amount due from related parties at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 
68,968 (2019: Rs. 74,311).

14.2 As at December 31, 2020, other receivables amounting to Nil (2019: Rs. 2,000) were past due and impaired. The 
carrying values of other receivables are neither past due nor impaired. The credit quality of these financial assets 
can be assessed with reference to their historical performance with no defaults.

15. SALES TAX RECOVERABLE

15.1 On November 29, 2016, the Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) after conducting sales tax audit for the 
year ended December 2013 raised sales tax demand amounting to Rs. 158,826 including penalty. The demand 
primarily arose on account of (i) mismatch of input tax claimed with suppliers output tax on FBR portal; (ii) alleged 
unlawful adjustment of input tax; and (iii) alleged non-withholding of sales tax on certain supplies. On February 
28, 2019, CIR (Appeals) upheld the demand of DCIR in respect of mismatch of input tax claimed and remanded 
back adjustment of input tax. Being aggrieved with the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal before 
the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) on May 29, 2019, which is pending for adjudication and based on 
the opinion of its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly sales tax 
recoverable has not been reduced by the effect of aforementioned order.

15.2 The DCIR issued show cause notices for sales tax on tea whitener and dairy drink product i.e. ‘Tarang’ and ‘Omung’ 
respectively for year 2013 on October 17, 2017 and for years 2014, 2015 and 2016 on March 9, 2018 
aggregating to Rs. 14,886,500 challenging the exemption / zero rating on these products. Against the show cause 
notices the Company had filed Constitutional Petitions before the High Court of Sindh for year 2013 on October 
25, 2017 and for years 2014, 2015 and 2016 on March 15, 2018, and had obtained an interim injunction 
against adverse action by tax authorities on the same day. The High Court of Sindh vide its order dated November 
18, 2020 has upheld Company’s view with respect to ‘Tarang’ in view of the decision of the Classification 
Committee obtained by the Company on February 11, 2019. With respect to ‘Omung’ the Court has suspended 
the notice, advising that the FBR may refer the matter to the Classification Committee, for a decision afresh; and till 
such time no action can be taken against the Company. The amount of show cause notices pertaining to ‘Omung’ 
aggregate to Rs. 1,480,841. In case the Classification Committee (for Omung) decides against the Company, the 
Company can avail all legal remedies available to it. The Company has appealed the decision with respect to Omung 
in the Supreme Court, the decision of which is pending for adjudication. Based on the opinion of its legal advisor, 
the Company is confident of a favorable outcome of this matter.

15.3 The Assistant Commissioner Inland Revenue passed an order on September 17, 2019 for the tax periods July 2013 
to June 2018 raising demand amounting to Rs. 245,575 including penalty and default surcharge by disallowing 
input tax on certain items and purchases from blacklisted / suspended vendors. On December 26, 2019, CIR 
(Appeals) passed an order allowing input tax on purchases from blacklisted / suspended vendors and remanded 
back claim of input tax on certain items.  Being aggrieved with the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal 
before the ATIR on February 20, 2020, which is pending for adjudication. The Company  based on the opinion of 
its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly sales tax recoverable has not 
been reduced by the effect of aforementioned order.

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

16. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash at bank on:
- current accounts - conventional [including foreign 

currency account of Rs. 28,107 (2019: Rs. 27,431)]  532,656  29,080 
- current accounts - Islamic  857  832 
- savings accounts [including foreign currency 

account of Rs. 34,315 (2019: Rs. 33,231)]  36,949  36,003 
 570,462  65,915 

17. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized Capital

850,000,000 (2019: 850,000,000) ordinary shares
of Rs. 10 each  8,500,000  8,500,000 

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Capital

766,596,075 (2019: 766,596,075) ordinary shares
of Rs. 10 each fully paid in cash (note 17.1)  7,665,961  7,665,961 

17.1 As at December 31, 2020, FrieslandCampina Pakistan Holdings B.V. (the Holding Company) held 390,963,999 
(2019: 390,963,999) ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each and Engro Corporation Limited held 306,075,947 (2019: 
306,075,947) ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each.

17.2 The Company has only one class of ordinary shares which do not carry any rights to a fixed income. The holders 
of the shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are also entitled to one vote per 
share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank pari passu with regards to the Company’s residual assets. The 
Shareholders’ Agreement executed between FrieslandCampina Pakistan Holding B.V. and Engro Corporation Limited 
(ECL) provides certain restricted matters that require prior ECL approval. These matters include but are not limited 
to loans to a third party over a prescribed limit (not included in the Business Plan), purchase / acquisition / sale / 
disposition of a business over a prescribed limit (not included in Business Plan) and creation of Board committees. 

18. SHARE PREMIUM

This reserve can be utilized by the Company only for the purpose specified in section 81 of the Act.

19. EMPLOYEES’ SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In 2013, the shareholders of the Company approved Employees’ Share Option Scheme (the Scheme) for granting 
of options to certain critical employees up to 16,900,000 new ordinary shares, to be determined by the Board 
Compensation Committee. 

Under the Scheme, options were granted in the years 2013 to April 2015. 50% of the options granted were to 
vest in two years whereas the remaining 50% were to vest in three years from the date of the grant of options. 
These options are exercisable within 3 years from the end of vesting period. As at December 31, 2020, options 
for 3,531,250 shares have been vested while options for remaining 13,368,750 shares have lapsed till December 
31, 2020 with the expiry of the Scheme.

The details of share options granted to date under the Scheme, which remained outstanding as at December 31, 
2020 are as follows:

- number of options 3,531,250
- range of exercise price Rs. 210.28 - Rs. 308.61
- weighted average remaining contractual life 2.39 years



| FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited Annual Report 2020 |120 121

The weighted average fair value of options granted to date, as estimated at the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes model was Rs. 28.39 per option. The following assumptions have been used in calculating the fair values 
of the options: 

Options granted Options granted Options granted
in 2015 in 2016 in 2017

Options granted and outstanding:

- number of options 400,000 3,006,250 125,000
- share price Rs. 107.67 Rs. 156.85 Rs. 168.19
- exercise price Rs. 210.28 Rs. 305.18 Rs. 308.61
- expected volatility 30.32% 34.86% 25.74%
- expected life 3.5 years 3.5 years 3.5 years
- annual risk free interest rate 7.93% 6.15% 6.12%

The volatility has been measured as the standard deviation of quoted share prices over the last one year from each 
respective / expected grant date.

The time period under the Scheme for granting of share options expired in April 2015. However, the Company 
obtained approval of shareholders for extension in share options grant period for further 3 years in the Annual 
General Meeting held on April 27, 2015. The approval from the SECP for aforementioned modification in the 
Scheme and the related vesting period has also been received through letter dated August 31, 2015.

20. LONG TERM FINANCES, Secured
(Non-Participatory)

Long Term Finances Utilized Under Mark-Up Arrangements:

Instalments 2020 2019
Number Commencing from Interest Rate -------------Rupees-------------

Long term finances

Bank Al-Habib Limited 4 half yearly October 7, 2021 6 months KIBOR + 0.05%  2,000,000  2,000,000 
Habib Bank Limited 4 half yearly October 7, 2021 6 months KIBOR + 0.05%  2,000,000  2,000,000 
MCB Bank Limited 4 half yearly June 27, 2023 3 months KIBOR + 0.25%  1,000,000  -   
Habib Metropolitan Bank

Limited (note 20.4) 8 quarterly March 31, 2021 2% - 3%  902,506  -   
 5,902,506  4,000,000 

Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities  (1,239,502)  (800,000)
 4,663,004  3,200,000

20.1 The above finances are secured by registered floating charges / mortgages over the present and future operating 
assets of the Company up to a maximum of Rs. 9,750,000 (2019: Rs. 10,042,000).

20.2 Following are the changes in the long term finances (i.e. for which cash flows have been classified as financing 
activities in the statement of cash flows):

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

Balance as at January 1  4,000,000  4,000,000 
Proceeds from long term finances  1,957,142  - 
Less: Amount recognized as government grant (note 22.1)  (76,720)  - 

 1,880,422  - 
Add: Amortization of long term finance (note 22.1)  22,084  - 
Balance as at December 31  5,902,506  4,000,000 

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

20.3 In light of the relief granted by the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) vide Banking Policy and Regulation Department 
(BPRD) Circular Letter No. 13 of 2020 dated March 26, 2020, the Company sought relaxation in repayment 
terms in respect of its long term finance facilities from Habib Bank Limited and Bank Al-Habib Limited. The 
principal payments of these loans which were due in October 2020 and April 2021 have been deferred for a period 
of one year thereby extending the overall maturities of these liabilities by the same period.

20.4 During the year, the Company entered into a long term loan agreement with Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited 
amounting to Rs. 957,142 under the  Refinance Scheme for Payment of Wages and Salaries to the Workers and 
Employees of Business Concerns by SBP. The loan is repayable in eight equal quarterly instalments, starting from 
March 2021. The loan carries mark-up ranging from 2% to 3% per annum starting from the date of disbursement 
and is payable in arrears on quarterly basis. The loan has been recognized at fair value (i.e. present value of loan 
receipts discounted using prevailing market interest rate for a similar instrument) and the differential amount has 
been booked as Government grant as disclosed in note 22.1. The loan amount is being accreted using the effective 
interest rate method with the corresponding effect on the interest expense for the year in the profit or loss.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

21. LEASE LIABILITY AGAINST RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Non-current portion  258,219  413,752 
Current portion  240,097  235,692 
Total lease liability as at December 31  498,316  649,444 

Maturity analysis:
within 1 year  240,097  235,692 
between 1 to 2 years  126,876  227,817 
between 2 to 3 years  124,443  99,046 
between 3 to 4 years  6,900  86,667 
between 4 to 5 years  -  222 

 498,316  649,444 

22. OTHER PAYABLES

Government grant on a long term finance (note 22.1)  15,567  - 
Deferred liability (note 22.2)  102,885  - 

 118,452  - 

22.1 The Movement is as Follows:

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

Recognition of government grant on long term finance  76,720  - 
Less: Amortization for the year  (22,084)  - 

 54,636  - 

Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities  (39,069)  - 
Balance as at December 31  15,567  - 

22.2 Represents non-current portion of amount payable in respect of Gas Infrastructure Development (GIDC) amounting 
to Rs. 102,885 (2019: Nil). During the year, the Supreme Court of Pakistan upheld the Gas Infrastructure 
Development Cess Act, 2015 to be constitutional and intravires. The Supreme Court has allowed settlement of 
GIDC over a period of time.
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2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables (notes 23.1 and 23.3)  5,437,604  6,047,547 
Accrued liabilities  1,980,485  1,797,210 
Retention money  1,710  3,113 
Suppliers' security deposits (note 23.4)  98  98 
Customers' security deposit (note 23.5)  3,850  2,700 
Withholding tax payable  51,330  40,646 
Payable to provident fund  261  28,686 
Payable to defined benefit gratuity fund (note 38.4)  171,185  229,315 
Payable to defined contribution gratuity fund  6,748  7,866 
Workers' profits participation fund (note 23.2)  10,915  (5,635)
Workers' welfare fund  46,769  36,737 
Others  103,967  37,843 

 7,814,922  8,226,126 

23.1 Include Amounts Payable to the Following Related Parties:

- FrieslandCampina Nederland B.V.  332,121  494,259 
- FrieslandCampina AMEA Pte Ltd  509  - 
- Engro Corporation Limited  790  - 

 333,420  494,259 

23.2 Workers’ Profits Participation Fund

Balance as at January 1  (5,635)  (5,635)
Add: Allocation for the year (note 31)  16,550  - 

 10,915  (5,635)

Less: Amount paid to the Fund  -  - 
Balance as at December 31  10,915  (5,635)

23.3 Trade payables include inland letters of credit under vendor financing arrangements which include interest cost as 
per the negotiated rates.

23.4 These represent interest free security deposit received from suppliers in accordance with the terms of the supplier 
arrangements. These deposits have been utilized for the purpose of the Company’s business.  

23.5 These represent interest free security deposit received from customers in accordance with the terms of the 
customer arrangements. These deposits have been kept in separate bank accounts and not been utilized for the 
purpose of the Company’s business.  

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

These represent advances received by the Company from customers and distributors for goods to be delivered.

25. SHORT TERM FINANCES - Secured

25.1 The facilities for short term running finance available from variously banks, which represent the aggregate sale price 
of all mark-up arrangements, amounts to Rs. 8,200,000 (2019: Rs. 8,550,000). The unutilized balance against 
these facilities as at year end was Rs. 8,200,000 (2019: Rs. 7,183,850). The rates of mark-up on these finances 
are KIBOR based and range from 7.25% to 7.93% (2019: 10.5% to 14.86%) per annum. These facilities are 
secured by way of hypothecation upon all the present and future current assets of the Company.

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

25.2 The facilities for opening letters of credit and bank guarantees as at December 31, 2020 amounts to Rs. 13,366,000 
(2019: Rs. 11,651,000), of which the amount remaining unutilized as at year end was Rs. 6,947,576 (2019: 
Rs. 5,262,243).

26. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

26.1 The Company has Provided Bank Guarantees to:

- Sui Southern Gas Company Limited amounting to Rs. 83,074 (2019: Rs. 81,769) under the contract for 
supply of gas;

- Sui Northern Gas Company Limited amounting to Rs. 34,350 (2019: Rs. 34,350) under the contract for 
supply of gas;

- Collector of Sales Tax, Large Tax Payers Unit (LTU), Karachi amounting to Rs. 154,278  (2019: Rs. 154,278) 
under the Sales Tax Rules 2006, against refund claims of input sales tax. Against these guarantees, sales tax 
refunds amounting to Rs. 90,820 (2019: Rs. 90,820) have been received to date;

- Parco Pearl Gas Co. (Private) Limited amounting to Rs. 1,000 (2019: Rs. 1,000) as collateral against supplies;

- The Government of Sindh, amounting to Rs. 245,886 (2019: Rs. 229,886), upon the order of the High Court 
of Sindh to furnish bank guarantees for 50% of the amount of Infrastructure cess of the goods entering or 
leaving the province through air or sea;

26.2 On January 18, 2017, the Company received an order from Competition Commission of Pakistan (CCP), imposing 
a penalty of Rs. 62,293 in respect of the Company’s marketing activities relating to one of its products. The 
Company filed an appeal against the aforementioned order on February 8, 2017, which was decided by the CCP 
tribunal on January 16, 2019, in the Company’s favor. However the CCP has appealed the decision of the tribunal 
in the Supreme Court (SC) of Pakistan and the Company has submitted its response in the SC which is pending 
adjudication.  

26.3 Commitments in respect of capital expenditure contracted for but not incurred as at December 31, 2020 amounts 
to Rs. 159,632 (2019: Rs. 701,364).

26.4 Commitments in respect of purchase of certain commodities as at December 31, 2020 amounts to Rs. 2,293,830 
(2019: Rs. 908,855).

26.5 Details of the other matters are given in  notes 15 and 34.1 to these financial statements.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

27. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 
CUSTOMERS - NET 

Revenue from contracts with customers - gross  49,429,583  43,465,542 
Less:
- Sales tax  (1,812,606)  (1,548,396)
- Trade and other discounts  (3,461,954)  (3,350,127)

 44,155,023  38,567,019 

27.1 This includes export sales amounting to Rs. 17,772 (2019: Rs. 187,299).
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2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

28. COST OF SALES

Raw and packaging material consumed (note 28.1)  30,033,630  25,924,715 
Salaries, wages and staff welfare (note 28.2)  1,609,992  1,505,576 
Fuel and power  1,260,299  1,225,378 
Repair and maintenance  739,272  591,907 
Freight inwards  647,260  588,850 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 4.3)  1,654,878  1,675,892 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (note 7.1)  125,656  176,325 
Impairment of operating assets (note 4.6)  9,248  738 
Intangibles written off  -  900 
Travelling  81,025  106,847 
Communication and other office expenses  66,553  77,679 
Insurance  122,379  104,757 
Rent and utilities (note 28.4)  161,091  143,607 
Research and business development  79,990  32,730 
Fee for technical assistance (note 28.3)  1,085,814  1,000,185 
Legal and professional  6,520  6,174 
Purchased services  609,421  547,983 
Provision / (reversal of provision) against:

- stock-in-trade  19,450  (29,123)
- slow moving spares  69,747  54,049 

Manufacturing cost  38,382,225  33,735,169 
Add: Opening stock of work-in-process  433,776  401,252 
Less: Closing stock of work-in-process  (355,030)  (433,776)
Cost of goods manufactured  38,460,971  33,702,645 
Add: Opening stock of finished goods manufactured  608,290  592,694 
Less: Closing stock of finished goods manufactured  (867,086)  (608,290)

 38,202,175  33,687,049 

28.1 Raw and Packaging Material Consumed

Opening stock of raw and packaging material  2,691,553  2,076,103 
Add: Purchases  29,690,182  26,540,165 
Less: Closing stock of raw and packaging material  (2,348,105)  (2,691,553)
Raw and packaging material consumed  30,033,630  25,924,715 

28.2 These include Rs. 163,832 (2019: Rs. 152,056) in respect of staff retirement benefits referred to in note 38.

28.3 This represents charge for technical assistance and royalty to FrieslandCampina Nederland B.V., the Netherlands.

28.4 These include short-term leases, leases of low-value assets and variable lease payments amounting to Rs. 20,353, 
Rs. 66,700 and Rs. 67,720 (2019: Rs. 30,936, Rs. 59,631 and Rs. 39,620) respectively.

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

29. DISTRIBUTION AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Salaries, wages and staff welfare (note 29.1)  733,890  777,298 
Advertising  1,186,196  1,091,329 
Freight outward  1,174,066  1,244,254 
Travelling   77,480  123,435 
Communication and other office expenses  32,951  35,954 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 4.3)  313,441  251,770 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (note 7.1)  28,079  27,745 
Impairment of operating assets (note 4.6)  10,662  19,705 
Fuel and power  3,658  5,077 
Repairs and maintenance  55,218  57,663 
Rent, rates and taxes (note 29.2)  5,016  4,441 
Insurance  16,265  14,408 
Software maintenance  16,633  15,256 
Research and business development  106  93 
Legal and professional  2,406  - 
Purchased services  5,146  10,564 

 3,661,213  3,678,992 

29.1 These include Rs. 75,299 (2019: Rs. 75,872) in respect of staff retirement benefits referred to in note 38.

29.2 These include leases of low-value assets and variable lease payments amounting to Nil and Rs. 62 (2019: Rs. 75 
and Rs. 162) respectively.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

30. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Salaries, wages and staff welfare (notes 30.1 and 30.2)  663,195  715,306 
Training and development  6,197  25,586 
Communication and other office expenses  104,979  119,106 
Rent, rates and taxes (note 30.3)  34,316  34,881 
Travelling  10,497  36,253 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 4.3)  23,369  17,837 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (note 7.1)  87,975  92,213 
Impairment of operating assets (note 4.6)  431  190 
Intangibles written off  -  1,762 
Amortization (note 6)  28,406  28,555 
Fuel and power  1,534  2,860 
Repairs and maintenance  4,390  4,022 
Insurance  5,395  6,337 
Legal and professional  74,541  47,503 
Auditor's remuneration (note 30.4)  6,448  5,706 
Software maintenance and license cost  16,536  19,328 
Trade debts written off (note 12.3)  112  - 
Provision for impairment of trade debts (note 12.3)  15,680  2,047 
Purchased services  70,309  86,361 

 1,154,310  1,245,853 

30.1 These include Rs. 67,457 (2019: Rs. 61,343) in respect of staff retirement benefits referred to in note 38.

30.2 These include charge of Nil (2019: reversal of Rs. 3,046) in respect of employees’ share option compensation expense.

30.3 These include leases of low-value assets amounting to Rs. 141 (2019: Rs. 55).
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(Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

30.4 Auditor’s Remuneration

Fee for:

- audit of annual financial statements and group reporting  3,808  3,260 
- review of half yearly financial information  700  600 
- review of compliance with the 

Code of Corporate Governance  140  125 
- special certifications, taxation and other services  685  960 

 5,333  4,945 

Reimbursement of expenses and taxes  1,115  761 
 6,448  5,706 

31. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Workers’ welfare fund  46,769  18,478 
Donations (note 31.1)  20,016  20,000 
Loss on death / disposals of biological assets  -  78,271 
Provision for culling of biological assets (note 5)  57,702  121,553 
Workers' profits participation fund (note 23.2)  16,550  - 
Exchange loss  22,512  - 
Others  13,694  8,572 

 177,243  246,874 

31.1 These include donation to Engro Foundation, a related party, amounting to Rs. 20,000 (2019: Rs. 20,000). The 
directors including the Chief Executive and their spouses do not have any interest in the donee.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

32. OTHER INCOME

From Financial Assets

Interest on bank deposits / saving accounts  14,905  8,521 

From Other Than Financial Assets

Gain arising from changes in fair value of
biological assets (note 5.1)  303,887  314,387 

Gain on disposals of biological assets  21,985  - 
Gain on disposal of operating assets  76,525  44,350 
Exchange gain  -  9,960 
Scrap sales  26,423  32,711 
Amortization of government grant on long term 

finances (note 22.1)  22,084  - 
Others  80,629  3,039 

 531,533  404,447 
 546,438  412,968 

(Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

33. FINANCE COST

Mark-up on:

- Short-term finances (note 33.1)  606,177  681,297 
- Long-term finances  557,674  455,195 
- Lease liability against right-of-use assets  57,411  67,399 

 1,221,262  1,203,891 

Bank charges  17,578  17,683 
 1,238,840  1,221,574 

33.1 This includes finance cost on local letters of credit. The rates of mark-up on these finances are KIBOR based and 
range from 7.25% to 7.93% (2019: 10.76% to 14.5%) per annum.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

34. TAXATION

Current
- for the year  717,071  628,083 
- for prior year  5,589  17,178 

 722,660  645,261 

Deferred  (631,906)  (790,751)
 90,754  (145,490)

34.1 Following is the Position of the Company’s Open Tax Assessments:

34.1.1 The Company in accordance with section 59B ‘Group Relief’ of the Income Tax Ordinance (ITO), 2001 had 
surrendered to Engro Corporation Limited (ECL), the associated company (then the holding company), its tax losses 
amounting to Rs. 4,288,134 out of the total tax losses of Rs. 4,485,498 for the financial years ended December 
31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 (i.e. tax years 2007, 2008 and 2009) for cash consideration aggregating to Rs. 
1,500,847, being equivalent to tax benefit/effect thereof.

The Company had been designated as part of the Group of ECL by the Securities and Exchange Commission of 
Pakistan (SECP) through its letter dated February 26, 2010. Such designation was mandatory for availing Group 
tax relief under section 59B of ITO and a requirement under the Group Companies Registration Regulations, 2008 
notified by the SECP on December 31, 2008. 

Further, the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR), in respect of surrender of aforementioned tax losses by 
the Company to ECL for the financial years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, decided the appeals on July 
1, 2010 in favor of ECL, whereby, allowing the surrender of tax losses by the Company to ECL. The tax authority 
has filed reference application dated October 23, 2010 there against before the High Court of Sindh, which is 
under the process of hearings. On May 20, 2013, ATIR also decided similar appeal filed by ECL for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 in favor of ECL. The Company based on the merits of the case expects a favorable outcome 
of the matter.

34.1.2 On January 29, 2009, the Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (Deputy CIR) reduced tax loss from Rs. 1,224,964 
to Rs. 1,106,493 for the tax year 2007. Being aggrieved with the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal 
before the CIR (Appeals) on March 11, 2009, which is pending for adjudication. However, the Company, based 
on the opinion of its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and hence the balance of 
taxes recoverable has not been reduced by the effect of the aforementioned disallowance.
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34.1.3 On October 31, 2013, CIR raised a demand of Rs. 223,369 for tax year 2009 by disallowing the provision for 
advances, stock written-off, repair and maintenance, sales promotion and advertisement expenses etc. On May 
25, 2015, in response to the appeal filed against the audit proceedings, CIR (Appeals) issued an order in favor 
of the Company holding the selection of case for audit to be illegal and without jurisdiction. The tax authority 
has filed an appeal against the order before ATIR on August 11, 2015, however, no hearing has been conducted 
to date. On June 24, 2020 the tax authority has passed an appeal effect order giving effect to the directions of 
the CIR (Appeals) whereby it has restored the position of the Company as was shown in the income tax return. 
The Company, based on the opinion of its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, 
accordingly taxes recoverable have not been reduced by the effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.4 On May 20, 2014, the Additional CIR raised a demand of Rs. 713,341 for tax year 2012 by disallowing the initial 
allowance and depreciation claimed on certain items of property, plant and equipment, provision for retirement and 
other service benefits, purchase expenses, sales promotion and advertisement and other expenses etc. On January 
26, 2017, CIR (Appeals) upheld the decision of Additional CIR in respect of provision for retirement benefits and 
marketing support reimbursements while remanded back various issues for reexamination. Being aggrieved with 
the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal before ATIR on August 30, 2017, which is pending adjudication. 
On October 27, 2020, the tax authority has passed an order to conclude reexamination proceedings and give 
effect to the directions of CIR (Appeals). As complete effects have not been given in the order, the Company has 
filed appeal before CIR (Appeals) on November 24, 2020, which is pending adjudication. The Company, based 
on the opinion of its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly taxes 
recoverable have not been reduced by the effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.5 On December 23, 2015, Additional CIR raised a demand of Rs. 73,962 for tax year 2014 by disallowing the 
loss on sales of raw milk considered as trading activity, depreciation on certain additions to property, plant and 
equipment and tax credit under 65B etc. On December 6, 2018, CIR (Appeals) upheld the decision of Additional 
CIR on major items. Being aggrieved with the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal before ATIR on 
March 7, 2019, which is pending adjudication. On December 17, 2020, the tax authority has passed an order 
giving effect to the directions of CIR (Appeals) and based on the opinion of its tax consultant, is confident of a 
favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly taxes recoverable have not been reduced by the effect of the 
aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.6 On June 29, 2016, the Deputy CIR raised a demand of Rs. 541,221 for tax year 2013 by disallowing the loss 
on sales of raw milk considered as trading activity, stock written-off, finance cost allocation against advance for 
purchase from Engro Foods Netherlands, research and business expenses, adjustment of tax losses for tax year 
2011 and minimum turnover tax credit for tax years 2008, 2010 and 2011 etc. On January 26, 2017, CIR 
(Appeals) upheld the decision of Deputy CIR in respect of minimum turnover tax credit and finance cost allocation. 
On May 29, 2018, the Deputy CIR passed an appeal effect order based on the decision of CIR (Appeals) reducing 
the demand to Rs. 98,548. Being aggrieved with the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal before ATIR 
on May 15, 2017, which is pending adjudication. The Company, based on the opinion of its tax consultant, is 
confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly taxes recoverable have not been reduced by the 
effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.7 On June 29, 2016, Additional CIR raised a demand of Rs. 59,772 for tax year 2010, primarily on account of 
disallowance of sales promotion and freight expenses. On November 23, 2018 CIR (Appeals) upheld the decision 
of Additional CIR in respect of loss on sale of raw milk and inventory write-off while giving relief on other matters. 
Being aggrieved with the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal before ATIR on March 7, 2019, which is 
pending adjudication. 

On December 17, 2020, the tax authorities have passed an order to conclude reexamination proceedings and give 
effect to the directions of CIR (Appeals). As complete effects have not been given in the order, the Company has 
filed appeal before the CIR (Appeals) on January 13, 2021, which is pending for adjudication. The Company, based 
on the opinion of its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly taxes 
recoverable have not been reduced by the effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.8 On December 7, 2016, Additional CIR raised a demand of Rs. 34,134 for tax year 2011 by disallowing depreciation 
on certain additions to property, plant and equipment, provision for retirement and other service benefits, sales 
promotion and advertisement and other expenses etc. On April 15, 2019 CIR (Appeals) upheld the decision of 
Additional CIR on major items. Being aggrieved with the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal before 
ATIR on June 3, 2019, which is pending adjudication. The Company, based on the opinion of its tax consultant, is 
confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly taxes recoverable have not been reduced by the 
effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

34.1.9 On November 3, 2017, Additional CIR raised a demand of Rs. 511,801 for tax year 2016 by disallowing minimum 
turnover tax credit, expenses on account of Employee Share Option Scheme and Worker’s Welfare Fund. On June 
30, 2018, CIR (Appeals) upheld the decision of Additional CIR in respect of minimum turnover tax credit and 
Employee Share Option Scheme. Being aggrieved with the impugned order, the Company has filed appeal before 
ATIR on August 15, 2018, which is pending adjudication. The Company, based on the opinion of its tax consultant, 
is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly taxes recoverable have not been reduced by 
the effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.10 The Additional CIR issued an order dated February 22, 2019 amounting to Rs 274,588 for tax year 2015 by 
disallowing expenses on account of Employee Share Option Scheme, loss on sale of disposal of assets and assets 
written off. On August 19, 2019, CIR (Appeals) upheld the decision in respect of Employee Share Option Scheme 
and assets written off, while other matters were remanded back for reexamination. Being aggrieved with the 
impugned order, the Company has filed appeal before ATIR on October 24, 2019, which is pending adjudication.

On December 17, 2020, the tax authority has passed an order to conclude reexamination proceedings and give 
effect to the directions of CIR (Appeals). As complete effects have not been given, the Company has filed appeal 
before CIR (Appeals) on January 15, 2021, which is pending adjudication. The Company, based on the opinion of 
its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly taxes recoverable have not 
been reduced by the effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.11 During the year, Additional CIR raised demands aggregating to Rs. 221,472 for tax years 2017 to 2019 by 
disallowing certain items e.g. depreciation on freezers, loss on sale of disposal of fixed assets, written off inventory 
and gas infrastructure development cess. Being aggrieved with the impugned orders, the Company has filed 
appeals before the CIR (Appeals), which are pending adjudication. The Company, based on the opinion of its tax 
consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly taxes recoverable have not been 
reduced by the effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.12 The Deputy CIR conducted examination of withholding obligation of the Company for tax years 2013 and for tax 
years 2015 to 2018 and raised demands aggregating to Rs. 55,153. CIR (Appeals) decided the case in favor of the 
Company for tax year 2013 while remanded back the cases for tax years 2017 and 2018. Further, CIR (Appeals) in 
relation to tax years 2015 and 2016 decided the case against the Company. Being aggrieved with the impugned 
orders, the Company has filed appeals before ATIR for tax years 2015 to 2018, which are pending adjudication. 
The Company, based on the opinion of its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, 
accordingly taxes recoverable have not been reduced by the effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

34.1.13 The Deputy CIR issued orders dated July 8, 2020 and September 20, 2020 for tax years 2019 and 2018 wherein 
the tax authority had conducted verification of advance tax credits claimed by the Company in the income tax 
return. The tax authority disallowed the Company’s claims to the extent of Rs. 23,117 and Rs. 12,859 for tax 
years 2019 and 2018 respectively. Being aggrieved with the impugned orders, the Company has filed appeals 
before CIR (Appeals) on July 29, 2020 and October 15, 2020, which are pending adjudication. The Company, 
based on the opinion of its tax consultant, is confident of a favorable outcome of the appeal, and, accordingly 
taxes recoverable have not been reduced by the effect of the aforementioned disallowances.

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

34.2 Relationship Between Tax Expense and 
Accounting Profit

Profit / (loss) before taxation  267,680  (1,100,355)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 29% (2019: 29%)  77,627  (319,103)

Tax effect of:

- increase in future tax rates  -  153,134 
- transactions taxed at different rates  6,003  4,137 
- prior year charge  5,589  17,178 
- tax credits for investment in operating assets  -  (2,138)
- others  1,535  1,302 

 13,127  173,613 
 90,754  (145,490)



| FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited Annual Report 2020 |130 131

35. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE - Basic and Diluted 

There is no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share of the Company, which is based on:

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

Profit/(loss) for the year  176,926  (954,865)

Number of shares
in thousand

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year  766,596  766,596 

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

36. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Profit/(loss) before taxation  267,680  (1,100,355)

Adjustment for non-cash charges and other items:
 - Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  1,991,688  1,945,499 
 - Depreciation on right-of-use assets  241,710  296,283 
 - Impairment of operating assets - net  20,341  20,633 
 - Intangibles written off  -  2,662 
 - Amortization of intangibles  28,406  28,555 
 - Reversal of amortization of employee share option 

compensation reserve  -  (3,046)
 - Gain on disposal of operating assets  (76,525)  (44,350)
 - Gain arising from changes in fair value of biological assets  (303,887)  (314,387)
 - Gain/(loss) on death/disposal of biological assets  (21,985)  78,271 
 - Provision for culling of biological assets  57,702  121,553 
 - Provision for staff retirement and other service benefits  110,727  107,871 
 - Reversal of provision for stock-in-trade  19,450  (29,123)
 - Provision for slow moving spares  69,747  54,049 
 - (Reversal of provision)/provision for impairment of 

other receivables  -  2,000 
 - Trade debts writen off  112  - 
 - Provision for impairment of trade debts  15,680  2,047 
 - Government grant recognized as income  (22,084)  - 
 - Finance cost on short term and long term 

finances including bank charges  1,181,429  1,154,175 
 - Exchange loss/(gain)  22,512  (9,960)
 - Finance cost on lease liability against right-of-use assets  57,411  67,399 
Working capital changes (note 36.1)  299,432  874,270 

 3,959,546  3,254,046 

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

36.1 Working Capital Changes

Decrease / (increase) in current assets:
 - Stores, spares and loose tools  2,916  51,176 
 - Stock-in-trade  159,388  (668,417)
 - Trade debts  98,549  (517,462)
 - Advances, deposits and prepayments  5,265  21,085 
 - Other receivables  155,234  (6,887)
 - Sales tax recoverable  76,563  50,100 

 497,915  (1,070,405)
Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities:
 - Trade and other payables  (272,701)  1,803,749 
 - Contract liabilities  74,218  140,926 

 299,432  874,270 

37. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances (note 16)  570,462  65,915 
Short term finances (note 25)  -  (1,816,150)

 570,462  (1,750,235)

38. STAFF RETIREMENT AND OTHER SERVICE BENEFITS

38.1 As stated in notes 2.13.1 and 2.13.2, Engro Corporation Limited (ECL) operates and maintains an approved 
defined contribution gratuity scheme and an approved defined benefit funded gratuity fund (the Fund) on behalf 
of the Company, for all its permanent employees subjected to minimum prescribed period of service.

38.2 During the year, an amount of Rs. 35,764 (2019: Rs. 30,668) has been charged in respect of defined contribution 
gratuity scheme maintained by Engro Corporation Limited.

38.3 Plan assets held in trust are governed by local regulations which mainly include the Trust Act, 1882, (now the 
Companies Act, 2017), the Income Tax Rules, 2002 and Rules under the Trust deed of the Fund. Responsibility for 
governance of the plan, including investment decisions and contribution schedules, lies with the Board of Trustees. 
The latest actuarial valuation of the Fund was carried out as at December 31, 2020 using the Projected Unit Credit 
Method. Details of the Fund as per the actuarial valuation are as follows:

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

38.4 Reconciliation for Statement of Financial Position

Present value of defined benefit obligation (note 38.7)  (868,008)  (750,529)
Fair value of plan assets (note 38.8)  696,823  521,214 
Net liability at end of the year  (171,185)  (229,315)

38.5 Movement in Net Liability in the Statement of Financial Position

Net liability at beginning of the year  (229,315)  (224,640)
Charge for the year (note 38.9)  (110,727)  (107,871)
Contribution made during the year to the Fund (note 38.8)  188,500  95,674 
Remeasurement (loss) / gain recognized in 

other comprehensive income (OCI) (note 38.6)  (19,643)  7,522 
Net liability at end of the year  (171,185)  (229,315)
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(Amounts in thousand)

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

38.6 Remeasurement Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income

(Loss) / Gain from changes in financial assumptions  1,264  (738)
Experience loss  (16,489)  (6,222)
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation  (15,225)  (6,960)

Actual return on plan assets  59,466  34,217 
Expected return on plan assets  (63,884)  (55,308)
Adjustment  -  35,573 
Remeasurement of fair value of plan assets  (4,418)  14,482 

 (19,643)  7,522 

38.7 Movement in Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation

Present value of defined benefit obligation at beginning of the year  750,529  685,281 
Current service cost  84,376  87,053 
Interest cost  90,235  76,126 
Benefits paid during the year  (72,357)  (104,891)
Remeasurement on obligation (note 38.6)  15,225  6,960 
Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of the year  868,008  750,529 

38.7.1 Analysis of Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation

Vested benefits  868,008  750,529 
Non-vested benefits  -  - 

 868,008  750,529 

Accumulated benefit obligation  381,237  297,387 
Amounts attributed to future salary increases  486,771  453,142 

 868,008  750,529 

38.8 Movement in Fair Value of Plan Assets
   

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year  521,214  460,641 
Expected return on plan assets  63,884  55,308 
Contributions for the year  188,500  95,674 
Benefits paid during the year  (72,357)  (104,891)
Remeasurement (loss) / gain (note 38.6)  (4,418)  14,482 
Fair value of plan assets at end of the year  696,823  521,214 

38.9 Cost Charged to Profit or Loss:

Current service cost  84,376  87,053 
Net interest cost  26,351  20,818 
Cost for the year  110,727  107,871 

38.10 Charge for the Year has been Allocated as Follows:

Cost of sales (note 28)  59,170  56,703 
Distribution and marketing expenses (note 29)  27,195  28,293 
Administrative expenses (note 30)  24,362  22,875 

 110,727  107,871 

(Amounts in thousand)

38.11 Principle Actuarial Assumptions used are as Follows:

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

Financial Assumptions

- Discount rate - per annum compound 10.25% 11.75%
- Expected rate of increase in salaries - per annum

 - First year 9.25% 10.75%
 - Long-term 9.25% 10.75%

Demographic Assumptions

- Expected mortality rate SLIC (2001-05) SLIC (2001-05)
- Withdrawal rates / Rate of employees turnover Moderate Moderate

38.12 The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

 Impact on defined benefit obligation 
 Change in  
assumption 

Increase in  
assumption

Decrease in  
assumption

------ Rupees ------

Discount rate 1%  (782,058)  969,458 
Expected rate of increase in salaries - long term 1%  969,458  (780,597)

38.13 The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When 
calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method 
(present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of 
the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the gratuity liability recognized within the statement 
of financial position.

38.14 Plan Assets Comprise of Following:

2020 2019
Quoted Un-Quoted Total (%) Quoted Un-Quoted Total (%)

-------------Rupees------------- -------------Rupees-------------

Equity Instruments

Quoted Shares  156,929  -  156,929 23%  126,246  -  126,246 24%

Debt Instruments

Government Bonds  -  538,159  538,159 77%  -  385,251  385,251 74%
Cash and cash equivalents  -  16,300  16,300 2%  -  12,532  12,532 2%
Other assets  -  2,267  2,267 0%  -  2,694  2,694 1%
Other liabilities  -  (16,832)  (16,832) -2%  -  (5,509)  (5,509) -1%

Total  156,929  539,894  696,823 100%  126,246  394,968  521,214 100%
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38.15 Through its defined benefit gratuity plan, the Fund is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant to which 
are detailed below:

Asset Volatility

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields, if plan assets 
underperform this yield, this will create a deficit. The Fund believes that due to long-term nature of the plan 
liabilities and the strength of the ECL’s support, the current investment strategy manages this risk adequately.

Inflation Risk

The majority of the plan’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities. 
However, the Fund manages plan assets to offset inflationary impacts.

Life Expectancy / Withdrawal Rate

The majority of the plan’s obligations are to provide benefits on severance with the Company or on achieving 
retirement. Any change in life expectancy / withdrawal rate would impact plan liabilities.

38.16 Expected contributions to the fund for the year ending December 31, 2021 are Rs. 103,490.

38.17 The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 10.73 years.

38.18 Historical information of staff retirement benefits:

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
-------------------------------Rupees-------------------------------

Present value of obligations  (868,008)  (750,529)  (685,281)  (620,927)  (610,231)  (526,803)
Fair value of plan assets  696,823  521,214  460,641  480,266  469,331  475,217 

Deficit  (171,185)  (229,315)  (224,640)  (140,661)  (140,900)  (51,586)

39. REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

The aggregate amount charged in these financial statements in respect of remuneration and benefits to the Chief 
Executive, directors and executives are as follows:

2020 2019
Directors Directors

Chief Others Executives Chief Others Executives
Executive Executive
--------------------------------Rupees--------------------------------

Managerial remuneration  65,424  -  1,218,841  56,534  -  1,135,904 
Contribution for staff 

retirement benefits  8,968  -  119,849  7,676  -  156,091 
Bonus paid  27,897  -  163,306  9,687  -  118,294 
Fees  -  3,059  -  -  2,801  - 
Total  102,289  3,059  1,501,996  73,897  2,801  1,410,289 

Number of persons,
including those who
worked part of the year  1  6  312  1  6  299 

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

39.1 The Company also provides the Company owned and maintained vehicles for use of the Chief Executive and 
certain executives.

39.2 Premium charged in respect of non-executive directors indemnity insurance amounts to Rs. 499 (2019: Rs. 438).

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

40.1 Financial Assets as Per Statement of Financial Position

- At Amortized cost
Long term deposits  43,758  56,117 
Trade debts  801,387  915,728 
Advances and deposits  38,558  49,077 
Other receivables  158,247  313,481 
Cash and bank balances  570,462  65,915 

 1,612,412  1,400,318 

40.2 Financial Liabilities as Per Statement of Financial Position

- Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Long term finances  5,902,506  4,000,000 
Lease liability against right-of-use assets  498,316  649,444 
Trade and other payables  7,527,714  7,888,511 
Unclaimed dividend  8,507  8,731 
Accrued interest / mark-up  153,366  340,055 
Short term finances  -  1,816,150 

 14,090,409  14,702,891 

40.3 Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an 
exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 
The carrying values of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in these financial statements approximate their 
fair values.

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

41.1 Financial Risk Factors

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest 
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s risk management program focuses on 
unpredictability of the financial markets for having cost effective funding as well as to manage financial risk to 
minimize earnings volatility and provide maximum return to the shareholders. Risk management is carried out by 
the Company’s finance department under the policies approved by the Company’s Board of Directors.
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a) Market Risk

i) Currency Risk

Currency risk represents the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to currency risk is limited 
as all the foreign purchases are made against on-sight letters of credit where the payment is made on the 
date of delivery with no credit period. The Company imports plant and machinery and certain raw materials 
which exposes it to currency risk, primarily with respect to liabilities denominated in US Dollars.

At December 31, 2020, if the Pakistan Rupee had weakened / strengthened by 5% against the US Dollar 
with all other variables held constant, the effect on post-tax loss for the year would have been immaterial.

ii) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Company’s interest rate risk arises primarily from long and short term borrowings. Borrowings at 
variable rates expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Company analyses its interest rate exposure on a regular basis by monitoring existing facilities against 
prevailing market interest rates and taking into account various other financing options available. For 
borrowing at variable rates, the rates are determined in advance for stipulated periods with reference to 
KIBOR.

At December 31, 2020, if interest rates on the Company’s borrowings had been 1% higher / lower with all 
other variables held constant, post tax profit for the year would have been lower  / higher by Rs. 41,908 
(2019: Rs. 41,295) mainly as a result of higher / lower interest exposure on variable rate borrowings.   

iii) Other Price Risk

Price risk represents the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or 
factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Company is not exposed to price 
risk as it carries no price sensitive financial instrument.

b) Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the risk of financial loss being caused if counter parties fail to discharge their obligations.

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, trade debts, loans, advances, deposits and 
other receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of financial assets. 

The Company is not materially exposed to credit risk on trade debts and other receivables since credit is 
only granted to few reputed customers with good credit standings, with whom the Company has written 
terms of arrangement. The Company has also entered into Standing Instruction for Debit of Account (SIDA) 
arrangement with a few of its customers.

Further, the bank balances of the Company are held with banks having minimum credit rating of A1.

c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities. The Company’s liquidity management involves projecting cash flows and considering 
the level of liquid funds necessary to meet these, monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios 
against external regulatory requirements and maintaining debt financing plans. These objectives are achieved 
by maintaining sufficient cash and readily marketable securities and availability of funding through committed 
credit facilities. Due to dynamic nature of the business, the Company maintains flexibility in funding by 
maintaining committed credit lines available.

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to contractual maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2020 2019
Maturity  
upto one  

year

Maturity  
after  

one year
Total

Maturity  
upto one  

year

Maturity  
after  

one year
Total

--------------------------------- Rupees ---------------------------------

Long term finances  1,239,502  4,663,004  5,902,506  800,000  3,200,000  4,000,000 
Lease liability against 
right-of-use assets  240,097  258,219  498,316  235,692  413,752  649,444 
Trade and other payables  7,527,714  102,885  7,630,599  7,888,511  -  7,888,511 
Accrued interest / mark-up  153,366  -    153,366  340,055  -    340,055 
Short term finances  -    -    -    1,816,150  -    1,816,150 

 9,160,679  5,024,108  14,184,787 11,080,408  3,613,752 14,694,160 

41.2 Fair Value Estimation

41.2.1 The Company analyzes assets carried at fair value by valuation method. The different levels have been defined 
as follows:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (level 3).

41.2.2 There were no changes in valuation techniques during the year.

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The objective of the Company when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern 
and to provide expected returns to its shareholders by maintaining optimum capital structure to minimize the cost 
of capital.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it in the light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new equity, manage dividend 
payouts to its shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt. The Company also manages capital by maintaining gearing 
and current ratios at certain levels.

The Company manages capital by maintaining gearing ratio at certain level. The ratio is calculated as long term 
debt divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ in the statement of financial position plus long 
term debt. The gearing ratio as at December 31 is as follows: 

2020 2019
----------Rupees----------

Long-term:
- finances  4,663,004  3,200,000 
- lease liability against right-of-use assets  258,219  413,752 
Total long term debt  4,921,223  3,613,752 

Total equity  8,547,644  8,384,665 

Total capital  13,468,867  11,998,417 

Debt to equity ratio  0.37 0.30
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43. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

43.1 Following are the details of associated companies, related parties and associated undertakings with whom the 
Company had entered into transactions or had agreements and / or arrangements in place during the year:

Name of Related parties Direct Shareholding  Relationship 

FrieslandCampina Pakistan Holdings B.V. 51.00% Holding Company/ Major Shareholder
Engro Corporation Limited 39.93% Associated Company/ Major Shareholder
FrieslandCampina Nederland B.V. N/A Associated Undertaking
FrieslandCampina AMEA Pte Ltd N/A Associated Undertaking
FrieslandCampina Nutrifeed B.V. N/A Associated Company
FrieslandCampina PT Kievit N/A Associated Company
Friesland Campina Dairy Sourcing (FCDS) N/A Associated Company
Engro Fertilizer Limited N/A Associated Company
Engro Foundation N/A Associated Company
PT Frisian Flag Indonesia N/A Associated Company
Alaska Milk Corporation N/A Associated Company
FrieslandCampina (Thailand) PCL N/A Associated Undertaking
Pakistan Dairy Association N/A Common Directorship
Dutch Lady Milk Industries Berhad N/A Associated Undertaking
Pakistan Business Council N/A Common Directorship
FrieslandCampina Supply point N/A Associated Company
Engro Foods Limited - Defined Benefit Gratuity Fund N/A Post Employement Benefits
Engro Corporation Limited - Provident Fund N/A Post Employement Benefits
Engro Corporation Limited - Defined Contribution Gratuity Fund N/A Post Employement Benefits
Mr. Abrar Hasan N/A Director
Mr. Zouhair Abdul Khaliq N/A Director
Mr. Ali Ahmed Khan N/A Key Management Personnel
Mr. Syed Saud Ahmed Pasha N/A Key Management Personnel
Mr. Imran Husain N/A Key Management Personnel
Mr. Faisal Razi Azeem N/A Key Management Personnel
Mr. Ali Tanveer Khan N/A Key Management Personnel
Mr. Muhammad Ali Ata N/A Key Management Personnel
Ms. Muneeza Iftikar N/A Key Management Personnel
Mr. Saleem Lallany N/A Key Management Personnel
Mr. Syed Talha Imam N/A Key Management Personnel

43.2 Following are the names of associated companies, subsidiaries, joint ventures or holding company incorporated 
outside Pakistan with whom the Company had entered into transactions or had agreements and / or arrangements 
in place during the year:

Name of Company Country of 
incorporation

Aggregate 
percentage of 
shareholding 

including through 
other companies

Basis of association

FrieslandCampina Pakistan (Holding) B.V. Netherlands 51% Holding Company / Major  Shareholder
FrieslandCampina Nederlands B.V. (note 43.2.1) Netherlands N/A Associated Undertaking
Frieslandcampina Thailand PCL Thailand N/A Associated Undertaking
Dutch Lady Milk Industries Berhad Malaysia N/A Associated Undertaking
FrieslandCampina AMEA Pte. Ltd. Singapore N/A Associated Undertaking
FC Thailand Make Thailand N/A Associated Undertaking
FrieslandCampina Dairy Sourcing Netherlands N/A Associated Undertaking
FrieslandCampina Supply point Netherlands N/A Associated Undertaking
FrieslandCampina PT Kievit Indonesia N/A Associated Undertaking
PT Frisian Flag Indonesia Indonesia N/A Associated Undertaking
Alaska Milk Corporation Philippines N/A Associated Undertaking

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

43.2.1 Registered address of FrieslandCampina Nederland B.V. is Stationsplein 4, 3818 LE, Amersfoort, the Netherlands.

43.3 Transactions with related parties, other than those which have been disclosed elsewhere in these financial 
statements, are as follows:

2020 2019
--------Rupees--------

Nature of relationship Nature of transactions

Associated companies / Fee for technical assistance  1,085,814  1,000,185 
undertakings

Arrangement for sharing 
of premises, utilities, personnel and assets  110,392  160,819 

Purchase of goods and services  1,231,861  1,887,706 

Reimbursement of expenses incurred
on behalf of the Company  170,900  146,242 

Reimbursement of expenses paid on behalf
of the Company  27,122  10,139 

Donations  20,000  20,000 

Contribution for staff  
   retirement funds

Managed and operated by Engro Corporation Limited

- Provident fund  364,138  353,414 

- Gratuity funds  169,450  126,660 

Key management personnel Managerial remuneration  209,084  219,085 
including the Chief Executive
Officer but not other Directors Contribution for staff retirement benefits  29,315  28,885 

Bonus payments  67,029  35,447 

Other benefits  499  438 

Other Directors Fee  3,059  2,801 

43.4 The related party status of outstanding receivables and payables as at December 31, 2020 are included in 
respective notes to these financial statements.

44. SEGMENT INFORMATION

44.1 A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products that are subject to risks 
and returns that are different from those of other business segments. Management has determined the operating 
segments based on the information that is presented to the Board of Directors of the Company for allocation of 
resources and assessment of performance. During the year based on internal management reporting structure and 
products produced and sold, the Company is organized into the following two operating segments:

- Dairy and beverages; and 
- Ice cream and frozen desserts.

Management monitors the operating results of the abovementioned segments separately for the purpose of 
making decisions about resources to be allocated and of assessing performance. Segment performance is evaluated 
based on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in table below, is measured differently 
from statement of profit or loss in these financial statements. Segment results and assets include items directly 
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Unallocated assets include long and short term advances, deposits and prepayments, other receivables, taxes 
recoverable and cash and bank balances. Liabilities are not segment-wise reported to the Board of Directors. All 
the unallocated results and assets are reported to the Board of Directors at entity level. Inter-segment revenue of 
processed milk and powder are made by Dairy and Beverages to Ice cream.
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The following information presents operating results information regarding operating segments for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 and asset information regarding operating segments as at December 31, 2020:

2020 2019 (Restated)

Dairy and 
Beverages

Ice cream
and frozen  
desserts

Total Dairy and 
Beverages

Ice cream 
and frozen  
desserts

Total

---------------------------------Rupees---------------------------------
Results for the year

Revenue from contracts 
with customers - net 40,546,350  3,677,628 44,223,978 34,768,096  3,925,910 38,694,006 

Inter-segment revenue  (68,955)  -  (68,955)  (126,987)  -  (126,987)
40,477,395  3,677,628 44,155,023 34,641,109  3,925,910 38,567,019 

Depreciation, impairment and amortization  1,818,635  463,510  2,282,145  1,880,099  410,873  2,290,972 

Finance cost  974,931  263,909  1,238,840  879,377  342,197  1,221,574 

Net profit / (loss) after tax  226,558  (49,632)  176,926 (1,032,232)  77,367  (954,865)

Assets

- Segment assets 13,434,322  2,267,417 15,701,739 15,814,230  2,227,618 18,041,848 

- Un-allocated assets  -  -  7,596,187  -  -  5,524,249 

13,434,322  2,267,417 23,297,926 15,814,230  2,227,618 23,566,097 

45. SEASONALITY

The Company’s ‘Ice cream & frozen desserts’ and ‘Beverages’ businesses are subject to seasonal fluctuation, with 
demand of ice cream and beverages products increasing in summer. The Company’s dairy business is also subject 
to seasonal fluctuation due to lean and flush cycles of milk collection.

46. PRODUCTION CAPACITY

Designed 
Annual Capacity  

 (note 46.1) Actual Production Remarks

2020 2019 2020 2019
--------------Liters in thousand--------------

Dairy and Beverages  617,888  610,004  314,979  328,627 Production planned as per 
market demandIce cream  44,064  44,064  18,157  21,392 

46.1 Represents capacity as at the reporting date.

47. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Number of employees as at Average number of employees 
December 31, 

2020
December 31, 

2019
December 31, 

2020
December 31, 

2019

Management employees  1,147  1,163  1,160  1,187 

Non-management employees  163  171  167  174 

 1,310  1,334  1,327  1,361 

(Amounts in thousand) (Amounts in thousand)

48. RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTORY FUNDS

48.1 The contributory provident and gratuity funds are being maintained by Engro Corporation Limited which has made 
investments out of the funds in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the Companies Act, 2017.

49. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

49.1 Details of expenses allocated to export business during the year are as follows:

Rupees 

Cost of sales  12,071 
Salaries, wages and staff welfare  16,624 
Communication, utilities and other office expenses  3,895 
Travelling  325 
Legal charges  1,546 
Bank charges  40 

 34,501 

49.2 Represents all expenses directly attributable to exports and incremental expenses incurred due to exports.

50. IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 (the virus) a ‘pandemic’. In Pakistan 
the Federal Government and Provincial Governments have provided various directions and are taking measures 
to respond to the virus. The Company’s management is observing the directives issued by the government 
and continues to monitor the developing situation and would proactively manage any risk arising thereof. The 
Company’s management based on their current assessment has concluded that there are no material implications 
of COVID-19 on the Company’s operations, financial position and results at the date these financial statements 
were approved and authorized for issue, except relating to the matters stated in note 20 and decline in sales 
volume of ice cream and frozen desserts segment as disclosed in note 44.1.

51. CORRESPONDING FIGURES

51.1 Corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified, wherever necessary, for the purpose of comparison, 
the effects of which are not material.

51.2 For better presentation freight allowance for the year ended December 31, 2019 amounting to Rs. 290,317 have 
been reclassified from ‘distribution and marketing expenses’ to ‘revenue from contracts with customers - net’. 

52. DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorized for issue on February 8, 2021 by Board of Directors of the Company.

Abdul Samad Dawood Ali Ahmed Khan Imran Husain
Chairman     Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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